DEPARTMENT OF NEUROLOGY SERIES OF REPORTS NO 56, 2001

ZINAYIDA BEZVENYUK

MULTIPLE PATHWAYS OF DNA DISINTEGRATION DURING NEURONAL APOPTOSIS

Doctoral dissertation

To be presented with assent of the Medical Faculty of the University of Kuopio for public examination in Auditorium L1, Canthia Building of the University of Kuopio, on Saturday 25th August 2001, at 12 noon

Department of Neuroscience and Neurology University of Kuopio

Kuopio 2001

Distributor:	Kuopio University Library P.O.Box 1627 FIN-70211 Kuopio FINLAND Tel.+358 17 163 430 Fax+358 17 163 410
Author's address:	Department of Neuroscience and Neurology University of Kuopio P.O.Box 1627 FIN-70211 Kuopio FINLAND
	Tel. +358 17 162 517 Fax +358 17 162 048 URL: http://www.uku.fi/neuro/
Supervisors:	Professor Hilkka Soininen Department of Neuroscience and Neurology University of Kuopio
	Research Director Antero Salminen Department of Neuroscience and Neurology University of Kuopio
Pre-examiners:	Docent Kari Majamaa Department of Neurology University of Oulu
	Docent Kari Pulkki HUCH Laboratory Diagnostics Helsinki Maternity Hospital
Opponent:	Professor Dan Lindholm Department of Neuroscience and Neurobiology University of Uppsala Sweden

ISBN 951-781-748-7 ISSN 0357-6043

Kuopio University Printing Office Kuopio 2001 Finland **Bezvenyuk, Zinayida.** Multiple pathways of DNA disintegration during neuronal apoptosis. Series of Reports, No 56, Department of Neuroscience and Neurology, University of Kuopio 2001, 73p. (*Page numbering applies to the hard copy of the thesis*)

ISBN 951-781-748-7 ISSN 0357-6043

ABSTRACT

Apoptotic cell death has been shown to contribute to neurodegeneration. Two biochemical processes are thought to be obligatory in apoptosis, namely, the activation of the caspases and the fragmentation of nuclear DNA. The purpose of this study was to investigate the mechanisms of DNA disintegration during neuronal apoptosis and to clarify whether HMW- and internucleosomal DNA cleavage represent distinct and separate types of apoptotic DNA disintegration. It has been shown that the treatment of NB 2A neuroblastoma cells with genotoxic insults (etoposide, Ara-C) led to the formation of HMW-DNA fragments of about 50-100 kb and 300 kb without the formation of an oligonucleosomal DNA ladder. Apoptosis induced by nongenotoxic insults (serum deprivation, OKA) was associated with disintegration of nuclear DNA into 50-100 kb DNA fragments and oligonucleosomal DNA ladder. ATA, Zn²⁺-ions, cycloheximide and suramin effectively prevented internucleosomal and HMW-DNA cleavage in serum-deprived and OKA treated cells, but had no inhibitory effect on DNA disintegration in etoposide or Ara-C treated cells. The cell free system experiments allowed further to separate nuclease activities, responsible for these two types of DNA fragmentation. Our results suggest that distinct pathways underlay DNA disintegration during apoptosis induced by genotoxic and nongenotoxic stimuli, and formation of HMW-DNA fragments may proceed independently of the internucleosomal DNA cleavage. We further showed that treatment of CGCs with OKA or L-glutamate both resulted in cell death. The cytotoxicity induced by OKA was associated with activation of caspase-3-like proteases and formation of oligonucleosomal and HMW-DNA fragments. In contrast to OKA, neither activation of caspase-3- like proteases, nor formation of oligonucleosomal DNA ladder was observed during L-glutamate induced excitotoxicity. In OKA-treated cells, both internucleosomal- and HMW-DNA fragmentation were effectively inhibited by caspase inhibitors. However, in L-glutamate treated cells, these inhibitors had no any apparent inhibitory effect on the formation of HMW-DNA fragments. Our further experiments showed that addition of staurosporine to a serum-deficient medium induced in NB 2A cells apoptosis without formation of oligonucleosomal DNA cleavage. Caspase inhibitors effectively prevented activation of caspase-3-like proteases in staurosporine treated neuroblastoma cells without inhibition of HMW-DNA fragmentation. These results suggest that caspase activation is not essential for HMW-DNA fragmentation in cells induced to undergo apoptosis by staurosporine in serum-deficient medium. In summary, this study demonstrates that HMW- and internucleosomal DNA cleavage represent independent programmes of apoptotic DNA disintegration. Different mechanisms are involved in the formation of HMW-DNA cleavage that can be induced in both caspase-dependent and -independent manners. Suramin was demonstrated to protect neuronal cells against apoptotic and excitotoxic cell death.

National Library of Medicine Classification: WL 102

Medical Subject Headings: neuronal apoptosis, excitotoxicity, cell death, neurodegeneration, NB 2A neuroblastoma cells, cerebellar granule cells, serum deprivation, etoposide, L-glutamate, staurosporine, okadaic acid, caspases, nuclear apoptotic morphology, HMW- and internucleosomal DNA fragmentation, nuclease activities, caspase inhibitors, suramin.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was performed in the Department of Neuroscience and Neurology, University of Kuopio during years 1998-2001.

I wish to thank my supervisors professor Hilkka Soininen, docent Antero Salminen and doctor Victor Solovyan for their guidance and instructions.

I would like to thank docent Kari Majamaa, docent Kari Pulkki, the official reviewers of this study, for their constructive criticism and suggestions to improve the manuscript.

I also express my gratitude to professor Tuula Pirttilä, professor Juhani Sivenius, docent Aarne Ylinen, docent Riitta Miettinen, docent Irina Alafuzoff, docent Heikki Tanila, docent Thomas van Groen for their excellent teaching in neuroscience.

I am grateful to doctor Tiina Suuronen for the assistance in neuronal cell culture experiments and fruitful scientific discussions. I thank also doctor Sergiy Kyrylenko for his help with PCR analysis and Mikko Mättö for assistance in cytofluorometric analysis.

I am thankful to Esa Koivisto, Sari Palviainen, Tuija Parsons, Nilla Karjalainen, Mari Tikkanen and Hanna Turkki for their significant help during these years. I would like to thank the personnel of National Laboratory Animal Center of the University of Kuopio.

I thank Ewen MacDonald for revising the language of the articles and manuscript.

I am indebted to my co-authors Virva Huotari and Tero Tapiola.

I owe my gratitude to my colleagues Maaria Roschier, Pauliina Korhonen, Petri Kerokoski, Erkki Kuusisto, Petri Kolehmainen, Genevieve Bart, Thomas Dunlop, Ulla Lappalainen, Olga Kyrylenko, Farzam Ajamian, Bozena Berdel, Michal Kraszpulski, Mati Reeben, Elena Arbatova, Sami Ikonen, Inga Kadish, Irina Siverina, Kestutis Gurevicius, Markus Björklund, Giedrius Kalesnykas, Iain Wilson, Li Liu, Jun Wang, Laura Parkkinen, Minna Korolainen for their friendly collaboration.

I express my gratitude to all my Ukrainian friends for their love and friendship.

I would like to thank my friends Zanna and Kari Hyvönen, Marita and Artur Kurikka, Minna and Petteri Pietikäinen, Olga Romanova and Sergey Novikov, Elena Mnazakyan, Leonid Yavich for support and refreshing times together.

My deepest thanks to my children Andrej and Veronika and husband Victor for their patience and encouragement.

My dearest thanks to my parents Olexandra and Olexandr, my brother Fedir and his family for their love and for making those times together during these years special.

I worship the memory of my sister Elena.

This study was financially supported by the Finnish Academy of Sciences and University of Kuopio.

Kuopio, June 2001

Zinayida Bezvenyuk

ABBREVIATIONS

Ac-DEVD-AMC	Acetyl-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-7-amino-4-
	A cotul Lou Clu His Acn 7 omino 4
AC-LEHD-AFC	trifluoromethylcoumerin
A WELD AEC	A cotul Trn Clu His Acn 7 amino 4
AC-WEITD-AFC	trifluoromothylcoumerin
A A VUAD AMC	A cotul Tur Vol. Ale Acn 7 amino 4
AC-IVAD-AMC	methylcoumarin
AIF	anontosis inducing factor
Ara-C	cytosine arabinoside
ΔΤΔ	aurintricarboxylic acid
BME	ß-mercantoethanol
BPB	bromonhenol blue
BSA	bovine serum albumin
	caspase-activated DNase/inhibitor of CAD
Caspasas	custoinvil espertate specific proteineses
	cystemy aspartate-specific protemases
	dimentional granule cells
DFA	DNA for an antician factor
DFF	DNA fragmentation factor
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DIT	dithiothreitol
ECL	enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
EGTA	ethyleneglycol-bis-(β-aminoethyl)-N,N,N,N',
	tetraacetic acid
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorter
FIGE	field inversion gel electrophoresis
GrB	granzyme B
HEPES	N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N-2-ethane-
	sulphonic acid
HMW	high molecular weight
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase activity
MK-801	dizocilpine maleate
MTT	(3,(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)2,5-diphenyl-
	tetrazolium bromide
MPT	mitochondrial permeability transition
M.W.	molecular weight
NB 2A	Neuro 2A neuroblastoma cells
OKA	okadaic acid
PARP	poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PFA	paraformaldehvde
PI	propidium iodide
PIPES	1,4-piperazinediethanesulphonic acid

pher roor
sodi
elec
tris-
Z-A
Z-ll
Z-V
Z-V

phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride room temperature

sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis tris-boric acid-EDTA buffer Z-Asp(OCH₃)-Glu(OCH₃)-Val-Asp(OCH₃)-FMK Z-lle-Glu(OMe)-Thr-Asp(OMe)-CH₂F Z-Val-Ala-Asp(OMe)-CH₂F Z-Val-Ala-Asp-Val-Ala-Asp-7-Amino-4trifluoromethylcoumarin

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications that are referred to in the text by the Roman numerals **I-V**.

I Solovyan V., Bezvenyuk Z., Huotari V., Tapiola T., Suuronen T., Salminen A. (1998) Distinct mode of apoptosis induced by genotoxic agent etoposide and serum withdrawal in neuroblastoma cells. Mol. Brain Res., 62, 43-55.

II Solovyan V., Bezvenyuk Z., Huotari V., Tapiola T., Salminen A. (1999) Distinct mechanisms underlay DNA disintegration during apoptosis induced by genotoxic and nongenotoxic agents in neuroblastoma cells. Neurochem. Int., 34, 465-472.

III Bezvenyuk Z., Salminen A., Solovyan V. (2000) Excision of DNA loop domains as a common step in caspase-dependent and -independent types of neuronal cell death. Mol. Brain Res., 81, 191-196.

IV Bezvenyuk Z., Solovyan V. Caspases are not essential for the excision of DNA loop domains during apoptosis in NB 2A cells (manuscript).

V Bezvenyuk Z., Suuronen T., Salminen A., Solovyan V. (2000) Protective effect of suramin against cell death in rat cerebellar granule neurons and mouse neuroblastoma cells. Neurosci. Lett., 292, 111-114.

CONTENTS

<u>1. INTRODUCTION</u>	13
2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	14
2.1 Apoptosis: a general overview	14
2.2 Molecular mechanisms of apoptosis	15
2.2.1 Activation of proteolytic system	15
2.2.1.1 Role of caspases in apoptosis	15
2.2.1.2 Mechanisms of caspase activation	16
2.2.1.3 Substrates cleaved by caspases during the execution phase of apoptosis	19
2.2.1.4 Role of non-caspase proteases in apoptosis	20
<u>2.2.1.4.1 Calpains</u>	20
2.2.1.4.2 Cathepsins	21
2.2.1.4.3 Proteasomes	23
2.2.2 Activation of apoptotic nucleases and chromatin disintegration	24
2.2.2.1 Role of caspase activated DNase (CAD) in apoptotic DNA fragmentation	<u>2</u> 24
2.2.2.2 Role of non-CADs in nuclear apoptosis	27
2.3 Role of apoptosis in neuronal development and degeneration	28
<u>3. AIMS OF THE STUDY</u>	31
4. MATERIALS AND METHODS	32
4.1 Reagents	32
4.2 Cell culture	32
4.3 Induction of apoptosis	32
4.4 Cell harvesting	33
4.5 Measurement of cell viability	33
<u>4.5.1 LDH assay</u>	33
<u>4.5.2 MTT test</u>	33
4.5.3 Cytofluorometric analysis	33
4.6 Analysis of apoptosis	34
4.6.1 Nuclear morphology (Hoechst staining)	34
<u>4.6.2 Western blot</u>	34
<u>4.6.3 Analysis of protease activity</u>	35
<u>4.6.3.1 Caspases</u>	35
4.6.3.2 Cathepsin B and calpains	35
<u>4.6.4 Analysis of DNA integrity</u>	35
4.7 Cell free apoptosis assay	36
<u>4.7.1 Isolation of nuclei</u>	36
4.7.2 Induction and analysis of nuclear apoptosis	36
<u>5. RESULTS</u>	37
5.1 Neuronal apoptosis induced by genotoxic and nongenotoxic agents is associated	-
with distinct patterns of DNA fragmentation (1)	37

5.2 Apoptotic disintegration of nuclear DNA into HMW-DNA fragments proceeds independent	ently
of internucleosomal DNA cleavage in NB 2A cells (I, II)	37
 5.3 HMW-DNA cleavage represents a common step in caspase- dependent and caspase -independent types of neuronal cell death (III, IV) 5.4 Caspase/CAD pathway is not essential for HMW-DNA cleavage during 	38
<u>apoptosis (IV,V)</u>	39
5.5 Suramin rescues the neuronal cells against different types of cell death (III,V) 6. DISCUSSION	40 41
6.1 Apoptosis in neuronal cells induced by different cytotoxic insults: distinct	
patterns of DNA fragmentation	41
6.2 Internucleosomal- and HMW- DNA cleavage: separate pathways of DNA disintegratio	n 42
	<u> </u>
6.3 HMW-DNA cleavage: the role of DFF/CAD	44
6.4 Internucleosomal- and HMW-DNA cleavage: a differential requirement for	
caspases	44
6.5 Suramin as a common protective drug against different types of cell death:	
a possible therapeutic implication	45
CONCLUSIONS	17
<u>, conclusions</u>	4/
REFERENCES	48
	10

APPENDIX: ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS (I-V)

1. INTRODUCTION

Apoptosis is a genetically regulated form of cell death, in which superfluous or abnormal cells are eliminated from an organism, ensuring normal development of multicellular organisms and maintenance of tissue homeostasis (Wyllie et al., 1980). Disregulation of apoptosis is widely viewed as a principal event involved in a number of pathological paradigms ranging from cancer to neurodegeneration (White, 1996). Therefore, an understanding of the molecular mechanisms of apoptosis is not only of theoretical importance but may also have some other, especially, therapeutic value.

Apoptotic cell death has been shown to occur in diverse cell types and is triggered by a number of extracellular and intracellular signals. Apoptosis is associated with typical morphological changes in the cells, such as plasma membrane blebbing, chromatin condensation and fragmentation of the cell into apoptotic bodies that are rapidly phagocytosed by neighbouring cells (Kerr et al., 1972). Extensive investigations into the molecular mechanisms underlying apoptotic cell death pointed to the presence of two biochemical markers of apoptosis, namely, the activation of the caspases (cysteinyl aspartate-specific proteinases) (Patel et al., 1996) and the fragmentation of nuclear DNA into oligonucleosome-sized DNA fragments by an apoptotic nuclease(s) (Wyllie et al., 1980). Recently, a direct link between caspase activation and internucleosomal DNA fragmentation has been demonstrated by the observation that caspase 3 directly activates at least one of the apoptotic nucleases, DFF40/CAD, by proteolytic cleavage of its inhibitor, DFF45/ICAD (Liu et al., 1997; Enari et al., 1998) leading to the formation of the characteristic oligonucleosomal DNA ladder in apoptotic cells.

Activation of an endonuclease, which preferentially cleaves DNA at the internucleosomal regions, has been considered as the biochemical hallmark of apoptosis for many of years (Wyllie et al., 1980). Another type of DNA cleavage during apoptosis has been described to yield a set of the HMW-DNA fragments sized about 50-100 kb (Solovian and Kunakh, 1991; Cohen et al., 1992). The cleavage of nuclear DNA into HMW fragments has been shown to precede the formation of the oligonucleosomal DNA ladder in many cell types, in several cell lines this can occur in the absence of internucleosomal DNA fragments is considered as an early critical event during apoptotic DNA disintegration (Cohen et al., 1992; Oberhammer et al., 1993; Brown et al., 1993), and is widely thought to result from the disassembly of the higher-level chromatin structural domains (Lagarkova et al., 1995; Li et al., 1999).

While the pathways leading to the internucleosomal DNA disintegration during apoptosis are starting to be elucidated, the mechanisms involved in the higher-level chromatin disassembly remain poorly understood. Meanwhile, the understanding of the pathway that regulates the initial steps of nuclear DNA disintegration during apoptosis may have important clinical implications, and the nuclease(s) that is involved in the disassembly of the higher-level chromatin structural domains could be a useful therapeutic target in several pathological paradigms including cancer and neurodegenerative/trauma situations.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Apoptosis: a general overview

Apoptosis is a genetically regulated form of cell death, which plays an important role in tissue homeostasis, differentiation and development (Wyllie et al., 1980) and may be also involved in many degenerative diseases. Apoptosis is an active form of cell death. It requires energy and protein synthesis (Wyllie et al., 1995). It has been shown that apoptotic cell death is triggered by different intracellular and extracellular stimuli and proceeds in two phases: an initial commitment phase and an execution phase, which results in typical apoptotic morphological changes in the cells such as plasma membrane blebbing, shrinkage of the cytoplasm, dilation of endoplasmic reticulum, nuclear chromatin condensation and fragmentation into apoptotic bodies that are phagocytosed by neighbouring cells (Takahashi and Earnshaw, 1996; White, 1996). During apoptosis cells reduce their volume, pump out ions and there is contraction of the cytoskeleton, forming a cage-like structure around the nucleus. At the same time, the dying cells activate their own proteolytic enzymes in addition to those acting in the phagolysosomes (Zamzami and Kroemer, 1999).

In addition to "classical" apoptosis, another type of active cell death, associated with autophagy, has been recently described. Autophagy is a mechanism, by which cells degrade their own organelles and cytoplasm (Dunn, 1994). The morphological changes, which occur at the beginning of this process, comprise appearance of a double membrane-bound vacuole (autophagosome) around portions of the cytoplasm, which is formed from the endoplasmic reticulum (Dunn, 1990 a). During the next step, the autophagosome is converted into a single membrane-bound degradative vacuole (autolysosome) due to fusion with endosomes, lysosomes and Golgi elements containing acid hydrolases (Dunn, 1990 b).

Apoptotic and autophagic cell death represent normal physiological processes that occur during embryonic development (Oppenheim, 1991; Hinchliffe, 1981), formation and sculpting of body parts (Haanen and Vermes, 1996), mitochondrial turn-over in non-proliferating tissues (Dunn, 1990 a). However, both processes can be triggered by different apoptotic signals, such as trophic factor deprivation, drug and hormone treatments (Villa et al., 1998; Xue et al., 1999). It has been shown that onset of the mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) in an increasing number of mitochondria within the cell leads either to autophagy or apoptosis (Lemasters et al., 1998). Both of these events were inhibited by the anti-autophagic drug 3-methyladenine (Jia et al., 1997; Xue et al., 1999). Autophagy, induced in sympathetic neurons from the superior cervical ganglion by NGF-deprivation or Ara-C treatment, during its late stage was associated with typical apoptotic events: nuclear condensation and DNA fragmentation, mitochondrial swelling, cytoplasm vacuolisation, disruption of the nuclear envelope and plasma membrane (Xue et al., 1999). All these results support the concept that autophagy and apoptosis are overlapping processes (Zakeri et al., 1995). There is one hypothesis which accounts for the transition from autophagy to apoptosis and involves the process of MPT (Lemasters et al., 1998). Autophagy is initiated in the cells when the stimulating signals activate MPT in only a few mitochondria and this leads to the degradation of these leaking mitochondria by lysosomes. When more mitochondria start to undergo MPT, proapoptotic factors, such as cytochrome c and apoptosis inducing factor (AIF), which are released from the mitochondria, may trigger apoptosis. When all of the mitochondria are undergoing MPT,

ATP becomes depleted because of uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation and ATP hydrolysis by the mitochondrial ATPase. This results in another type of cell death - necrotic cell death.

Necrotic cell death occurs very rapidly due to the acute disruption of cellular metabolism, it has been defined, as unprogrammed or accidental cell death. The main features of necrosis are: ATP depletion, ionic disregulation, swelling of mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum, ultimately whole cell swells, and this eventually leads to disruption of the plasma membrane and cell lysis (Trump et al., 1965). Chemically induced hypoxia depending on the intensity of the insult produces apoptosis or aponecrosis, a form which shares the molecular and morphological features of both apoptosis and necrosis (Formigli et al., 2000). These data suggest that in some cases apoptosis may be reprogrammed to the alternative type of cell death - necrosis. The crucial point in this transition from apoptosis to necrosis is suggested to be the inhibition of caspase-3 protease activity, which is activated in apoptotic cells but remains to be nonactive in necrotic cells (Formigli et al., 2000; Lemaire et al., 1998).

2.2 Molecular mechanisms of apoptosis

2.2.1 Activation of proteolytic system

Apoptosis is characterised by activation of proteolytic enzymes, including proteasomes, serine and cysteine proteases (Patel et al., 1996; Villa et al., 1998). Cysteine proteases may be divided into two superfamilies: interleukin-1 β -converting enzymes (ICE) or caspases and the papain superfamily of cysteine proteases (Berti and Storer, 1995).

2.2.1.1 Role of caspases in apoptosis

There are currently 14 members of the caspase (cysteinyl aspartate-specific proteinases) family. They all possess sequence identity with CED-3, a protein, required for developmental cell death in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans (Ellis and Horvitz, 1986; Yuan et al., 1993). It is evident that caspases play a critical role in many biochemical events controlling apoptosis in nematodes and mammals (Ellis et al., 1991; Thornberry et al., 1992). This conclusion is based on several observations: first, caspases hydrolyse proteins that are known to be selectively cleaved at the beginning of apoptosis: lamins (Lazebnik et al., 1995), inhibitors of caspase-activated DNAse (DFF45/ICAD) (Liu et al., 1997; Enari et al., 1998), PARP (Lazebnik et al., 1994). Secondly, post-translational activation of several caspases correlates with the main apoptotic events: plasma membrane blebbing, shrinkage of the cytoplasm, dilation of endoplasmic reticulum, nuclear chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation (Takahashi and Earnshaw, 1996; White, 1996). Thirdly, naturally occurring protease inhibitors such as viral proteins Crm A (cytokine response modifier A) (Ray et al., 1992) and p35 (Clem et al., 1991) as well as the IAP (the inhibitor of apoptosis) family of proteins (Roy et al., 1995) and Bcl-2/Bcl-x_L (inhibitors of cell death, induced by many stimuli) (Vaux et al., 1988) all can prevent apoptosis. Finally, mice deficient in caspase-3 suffer a severe defect in apoptosis during brain development (Nicholson, Thornberry, 1997).

The family of caspases can be divided into three subfamilies based on their biological functions: the ICE subfamily (caspases-1, -4, -5), which activate cytokines during inflammation, initiators of apoptosis (caspases-2, -8, -9, -10) and executioners of apoptosis (caspases-3,-6, -7) (Nicholson and Thornberry, 1997; Cohen, 1997; Stennicke and Salvesen, 1998).

All caspases have four amino acids in their substrate cleavage site and aspartic acid in the P₁ position (Alnemri et al., 1996). Caspases are synthesised as inactive proenzymes, comprising an N-terminal peptide (prodomain), one large and one small subunit, and they contain in their structure a conserved pentapeptide active-site motif with the catalytic cysteine (Cohen, 1997). The difference in structure of various proenzymes may be due to the length of the prodomain and the presence of a linkage peptide between the two subunits. The length of the N-peptides varies from 22 amino acid residues for caspase-3 and -6 to over 200 in caspases -8 and -10, whereas the mature enzymes are quite similar in their sequence and length (Stennicke and Salvesen, 1998). The maturation of caspases consists of cleavage at the Asp sites with formation of two subunits. Both subunits contain residues that are essential for the function of the mature enzyme. Active caspases are heterotetramers of two large and two small subunits (Cohen, 1997).

2.2.1.2 Mechanisms of caspase activation

In general, there are several ways by which caspases can be activated. The first is as a result of cleavage by autolysis and by upstream proteases, such as other caspases or granzyme B (GrB), which is the only mammalian serine protease that shares the caspase specificity for the Asp residue at the P_1 position. A common feature of the ICE family proteases is the presence of a prodomain that has been hypothesized to keep the enzyme in an inactive form. Prodomain is necessary also for dimerization, which occurs prior to autoprocessing (Van Criekinge et al., 1996). GrB *in vivo* processes initially caspase-3, which in turn can remove the prodomain from caspase-7, and, finally, caspase-7 is fully processed by GrB (Yang et al., 1998). In a heterologous expression system it has been shown that recombinant caspase proenzymes are autolytically processed to their mature forms when synthesised at sufficiently high levels. A mutation in catalytic cysteine residue prevents this processing. Isolated caspase proenzymes can be autoactivated when they are concentrated by ultrafiltration (Nicholson and Thornberry, 1997).

A second mechanism of caspase activation is through death-inducing receptors of the tumour necrosis factor receptor family (TNFR/NGFR), including Fas/CD95/Apo1, TNFR1, TNFR2, DR3/Wsl-1/Tramp, DR4/TRAIL-R1 (TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptor-1), DR5/TRAIL-R2/TRICK2/Killer and DR6. These receptors contain both cysteine-rich extracellular domains and intracellular cytoplasmic death domain (DD) (Bratton et al., 2000). The interaction of the appropriate ligand with the receptor results in its trimerization and recruitment of adapter molecules (Ashkenazi and Dixit, 1998). In the case of Fas-induced apoptosis, adapter protein FADD (Fas-associated death domain or Mort 1) contains C-terminal DD, which promote the interaction with the same DD in trimerized Fas-receptor, and N-terminal DED (death effector domain), which associates with DED in the large N-terminal peptides of caspase-8 (Fig. 1, A) (Boldin et al., 1996). This complex is called DISC (death-inducing signalling complex), and it is thought that as more procaspase-8 molecules become involved in this complex, they start to be activated, probably by autocleavage (Medema et al., 1997). Similar mechanisms have been demonstrated for the tumour necrosis factor receptor (TNF-R1), which seems to require an additional adapter molecule TRADD (TNFR-associated death domain), which recruits FADD and procaspase-8 (Fig. 1, A). Furthermore, TRADD can recruit serine-threonine kinase RIP (receptor interacting protein) and an adapter molecule RAIDD, which has sequence similarity with the prodomains of caspases-2, -9 and CED-3 and can activate procaspase-2 (Duan and Dixit, 1997). At the same time, the physiological role of caspase-2 in the activation cascade of caspases remains

unclear. It is likely that caspases-8 and -10 are the major apical proteases in TNF and anti-Fas induced apoptosis, which activate the downstream caspases (Medema et al., 1997). In the next step, activated downstream caspases can activate themselves and other caspases, leading to the amplification cascade of caspase activation. The recruitment of caspases-8 and -10 may be inhibited by viral inhibitors of the apoptotic signals (FLIPs) (Tschopp et al., 1998). These inhibitors contain two N-terminal DEDs in their structure. They interfere with FADD-caspase-8 binding and inhibit both caspase-8 activation and apoptosis. Caspases -1, -2, -4, -5, -9 and CED-3 contain another "caspase recruitment domain" (CARD), required for assembly of activation complexes (Hofmann et al., 1997).

The third way in which the caspase cascade can be initiated involves translocation of cytochrome c from the mitochondria to the cytoplasm (non-receptor-mediated pathway or stress-induced apoptosis) (Fig. 1, B) (Green and Reed, 1998). The mechanism of this translocation remains unclear and may be due to opening of a mitochondrial permeability transition pore, rupture of the outer membrane or the presence of specific channels for cytochrome c (Green and Reed, 1998). Cytochrome c release from mitochondria is under the control of the Bcl-2 family of proteins, that either inhibit (Bcl-2, Bcl- x_L) or promote (Bax, Bak, Bik, Bid) apoptosis (Antonsson and Martinou, 2000). In the cytoplasm, cytochrome c interacts with Apaf-1 (the human homolog of C. elegans protein CED-4).

Apaf-1 recruits pro-caspase-9 leading to the active form of the enzyme, which can activate procaspases-3 and -7, thus initiate the proteolytic cascade essential for apoptosis (Zou et al., 1997; Seshagiri and Miller, 1997; Gorman et al., 1998). In C. elegans, CED-3 (homolog of caspase 9) is activated following binding to the CED-4. Apaf-1 and CED-4 proteins both contain ATP binding motifs, highlighting the importance of ATP for activation of caspases.





In contrast to CED-4, Apaf-1 possesses two additional domains: a CARD and series of 12 WD40 repeats (Zou et al., 1997). Nevertheless, the mechanism of caspase activation in non-receptor-induced apoptosis is similar in both C. elegans and humans and may be considered as mechanism of homo-activation (Stennicke et al., 1998). The mechanism of hetero-activation is related to receptor-induced apoptosis and involves caspases (-2,-3,-6,-7) that form proteolytic cascade with caspases -8 and -10 at the beginning (Srinivasula et al., 1996; Zou et al., 1997). It is interesting that receptor- and stress-induced apoptotic pathways are overlapping, for example, activated by the mechanism of homo-activation caspase-3 processes caspase-6, which, in turn, activates caspases 8 and -10. These caspases are at the beginning of caspase activation cascade that proceeds by the mechanism of hetero-activation (Slee et al., 1999). Simultaneously, caspase-3 following its activation by caspase-8 and/or -10 (mechanism of hetero-activation) may process also caspase-9, which is known to be activated by the mechanism of homo-activation via the apoptosome (the activating complex formed by cytochrome c, Apaf-1, dATP/ATP and procaspase-9).

It should be noted that all these results have been obtained *in vitro*. It is rather difficult to determine the order, in which caspases activate each other *in vivo*. However, in the light of these data, caspases-8, -10 and -9 appear to be the apical caspases in receptor- and stress-induced apoptosis (Sun et al., 1999).

2.2.1.3 Substrates cleaved by caspases during the execution phase of apoptosis

During apoptosis, more than 100 proteins and enzymes are cleaved by caspases-executioners (Stroh and Schulze-Osthoff, 1998; Nicholson and Thornberry, 1997). The ultimate result of all these caspase-mediated cleavage events is: 1) stop of cell-cycle progression, 2) breakdown of the structural components of the cell, 3) impairment of homeostatic and repair mechanisms, 4) cell detachment from the surrounding tissue, – processes which make the cells recognisable by macrophages and facilitate their engulfment.

Some caspases have common substrates (caspase-3 and caspase-7 both cleave PARP), whereas others are more selective, e. g. protein kinase C δ is cleaved by caspase-3, but not by caspase-7. Other caspases may have unique substrate specificities (caspase-6 is the only caspase known to cleave lamins).

Cleavage of a definite number of key proteins is very important for the development of apoptotic events. Proteins which are substrates for caspases may be divided into three groups:

Table 1. Substrates specifically cleaved by caspases

Cytoskeletal and nuclear proteins, critical for maintenance of cell structure: β -actin (Mashima et al., 1995) α - fodrin/non-erythroid spectrin (Martin et al., 1995) lamins (Lazebnik et al., 1995) Gas 2, which is important for microfilament stability (Brancolini et al., 1995)

Proteins, involved in metabolism:

protein kinase C δ (Emoto et al., 1995) retinoblastoma protein (An and Dou, 1996) cellular phospholipase A2 (Voelkel-Johnson et al., 1995) inhibitor of caspase-activated DNAse (DFF45/ICAD) (Liu et al., 1997; Enari et al., 1998), Bcl-2, Bcl-x_L (Vaux et al., 1988) 460 kDa catalytic subunit of DNA-dependent protein kinase (Casciola-Rosen et al., 1995) 70 kDa protein component of the U1 small ribonucleoprotein (Casciola-Rosen et al., 1994) heteronuclear ribonucleoproteins C (Waterhouse et al., 1996) 140 kDa component of the DNA replication complex C (Song et al., 1997)

Repair enzymes: poly-(ADP-ribose)polymerase (Lazebnik et al., 1994)

2.2.1.4 Role of non-caspase proteases in apoptosis

2.2.1.4.1 Calpains

The papain superfamily of cystein proteases includes a group of cytoplasmic enzymes, calpains, bleomycin hydrolases, papain itself and lysosomal proteases, cathepsins (Berti and Storer, 1995). There is an increasing body of evidence indicating that calpains, cathepsins and proteasome play an important role in apoptosis, acting either upstream or downstream of the caspases (Saito et al., 1993; Villa et al., 1998; Squier and Cohen, 1997; Waterhouse et al., 1998).

Calpains are calcium-dependent neutral thiol-proteases that cleave transcription factors, kinases, phosphatases, membrane associated, cytoskeletal and regulatory proteins (the plasma membrane Ca ²⁺-ATPase, spectrin, fodrin, protein kinase C, actin-binding proteins) (Croall and DeMartino, 1991). There are two isoforms of the enzyme: calpain I (μ -form) and calpain II (m-form). Both isoforms have the same substrate specificity. Calpains are heterodimers comprising of 80 and 30 kDa subunits. The 80 kDa subunit encoded by a separate gene is unique to each isoform and consists of four domains (one of them, the protease domain, is similar to that of papain) and a 30 kDa subunit, which is common to both isoforms and consists of two domains (Sorimachi et al., 1994). Disturbances in calcium homeostasis during different pathological processes in the central nervous system (ischemia, Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, trauma) lead to the activation of several calcium-dependent enzymes, including calpains (Saito et al., 1993). In addition to regulation by calcium levels, calpain activity is controlled by an endogenous protein inhibitor calpastatin (Waxman and Krebs, 1978).

In some cases calpains may play a regulatory role during apoptosis (Debiasi et al., 1999; Waterhouse et al., 1998; Villa et al., 1998; Hiwasa, 1996; Squier et al., 1997; Squier et al., 1999). Induction of calpain activity by the depletion of calpastatin was sufficient to initiate apoptosis in neutrophils (Squier et al., 1999). After induction of apoptosis with anti-CD95 monoclonal antibody, staurosporine or TNF in Jurkat T-lymphocytes and U937 monocytic leukemia cells, calpastatin was cleaved, and this cleavage was inhibited by the caspase inhibitors z-VAD-cmk and z-IETD-fmk, thus indicating, that caspases may regulate calpain activity during apoptotic cell death via calpastatin cleavage (Pörn-Ares et al., 1998). During drug-induced

apoptosis in HL-60 cells, it has been shown that calpain activity is downstream of caspases (Wood and Newcomb, 1999).

There is an increasing body of evidence to suggest that in many forms of apoptosis calpains may act upstream of caspases, for example, in calcium ionophore-stimulated apoptosis during platelet activation (Wolf et al., 1999 a), cycloheximide- (Squier et al., 1999), radiation- (Waterhouse et al., 1998) and trophic factor deprivation-induced apoptosis (Villa et al., 1998). McGinnis et al. (1999) demonstrated that procaspase-3 and PARP are substrates for calpains in maitotoxin-treated cells. These data were confirmed also by *in vitro* experiments, where purified µ-calpain cleaved procaspase-3 and PARP to 30 kDa and 40 kDa fragments, respectively. Furthermore, calpain and caspase-3 have common apoptotic substrates such as calpastatin (Pörn-Ares et al., 1998), calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV (CaMK TV) (McGinnis et al., 1998), fodrin (Martin et al., 1995; Waterhouse et al., 1998), alpha-spectrin (Nath et al., 1996), actin (Villa et al., 1998) and lamins (Traub et al., 1988), suggesting that there may be overlapping of calpain and caspase activities during apoptosis.

It has become evident that calpains are involved in many types of apoptosis, but several aspects of their role in apoptosis remain to be clarified, for example, their position in the proteolytic cascade and their specific substrates.

2.2.1.4.2 Cathepsins

Lysosomal cysteine proteases have traditionally been viewed as mediators of terminal protein degradation and their primary function was to degrade the proteins nonselectively inside the lysosomes. However, cathepsins can be also found outside lysosomes under special conditions, suggesting that these enzymes are involved in a range of specific cellular tasks (Turk et al., 2000). Nowadays 11 human cathepsins have been identified, which can be divided into two families according to their sequence homology: cathepsin L-like (L, V, S, K, F, H, W) and cathepsin B-like (B, C, O and X) (Berti and Storer, 1995; Barrett et al., 1998). The mature forms of the enzymes belonging to these families are rather similar, but the proregions differ significantly in their length (Berti and Storer, 1995). Lysosomal cystein proteases are small proteins of 20 -30 kDa (with the exception of cathepsin C, which is a 200 kDa protein) (Turk et al., 2000).

Cathepsins are active in a slightly acidic environment and most are endopeptidases, although some of them may act as dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase (cathepsin B), aminopeptidase (cathepsin H) and dipeptidyl aminopeptidase (cathepsin C) (Barrett et al., 1998). Cathepsins are synthesised as preproenzymes, which are translocated to the endoplasmatic reticulum, and proteolytic processing of the enzymes to the active form occurs in the acidic conditions of late endosomes or lysosomes (Nishimura et al., 1988). Maturation of lysosomal cathepsins occurs by the process of autoactivation or by other proteases, such as pepsin, neutrophil elastase and cysteine proteases (Nishimura et al., 1988).

There are several ways that regulate cathepsin activity:

<u>1) pH</u>. Most of the lysosomal cysteine proteases are unstable and weakly active at neutral pH (cathepsins L, B, H, K, V, F), their activation optimum is in the acidic conditions (pH 5.5). During maturation of lysosomes, the internal pH drops to 3.8, sufficient for the denaturation of cathepsins

B, S and L (Turk et al., 1999). At lower pH all ligands, including substrates, inhibitors and propeptides bind weakly to cathepsins (Turk et al., 2000). Denaturated cathepsin L is proteolytically degraded by aspartic proteinase cathepsin D, which is highly active at acidic pH (Turk et al., 1999).

2) Redox potential. The active site cysteine is readily oxidised and the enzymes are predominantly active in a reducing environment.

<u>3) Targeting of enzymes to endosomes and lysosomes.</u> For the lysosomal targeting, cathepsins should be mannosylated followed by the interaction of phosphomannosyl residues with mannose-6-phosphate lysosomal receptors.

<u>4) Cysteine protease inhibitors.</u> The main inhibitors of lysosomal cysteine proteases are the superfamily of cystatins, consisting from intracellular stefins (type I, cystatin A and B), extracellular cystatin C (type II) and kininogens (type III) (Chapman et al., 1997), thyropins and the general protease inhibitor α_2 -macroglobulin (Turk et al., 2000). Another set of inhibitors are serpin squamous cell carcinoma antigen 1 (Suminami et al., 1991) and the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-2 β (Delaria et al., 1994). These inhibitors appear to inhibit active enzymes, that have escaped compartmentalisation.

In addition to their degradative function, cathepsins process many of the proteins outside of lysosomes. They are involved also in the immune responses and extracellular matrix remodelling important in bone development and have been implicated in a number of diseases, including cancer, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease (Chapman et al., 1997; Shuja et al., 1991; Mort et al., 1984; Cataldo and Nixon, 1990; Bever and Garver, 1995).

A growing body of evidence stresses the role of cathepsins as positive mediators of apoptosis. One piece of indirect evidence for the involvement of lysosomal cysteine proteases in neuronal apoptosis was provided by the experiments with stefin B knock-out mice (Pennacchio et al., 1998), in which stefin B deficiency resulted in cerebellar apoptosis. This inhibitor does not inhibit caspases, the major apoptotic proteases (Turk et al., 2000), but inhibits lysosomal cysteine proteases, thus suggesting their possible role in apoptosis. Apoptosis induced by serum deprivation in dorsal root ganglion neurons and in PC 12 cells was associated not only with activation of caspase-3, but also activation of aspartic proteinase cathepsin D (Isahara et al., 1999). Further experiments with cathepsin inhibitors have revealed a novel pathway for initiating cell death, which is regulated by lysosomal cathepsins and in which cathepsin D acts as a death factor. This death-inducing activity may be normally suppressed by cathepsin B (Isahara et al., 1999). Overexpression of cathepsin D by ectopic expression has been shown to induce cell death even in the absence of any external stimulus (Deiss et al., 1996). In some cases, the apoptosis-stimulating effect of cathepsin D occurs upstream of caspase activation (Öllinger, 2000).

Recently the capacity of cathepsins to process caspases has been demonstrated. In HeLa and L929 cells cathepsin B is a caspase-1 and caspase-11-processing proteinase (Vancompernolle et al., 1998) and cathepsin G can generate active caspase-7 (Zhou and Salvesen, 1997). Cathepsins B and L are potential processing proteinases for caspase-3 during induction of apoptosis in erythroid progenitor cells (Gregoli and Bondurant, 1999). In a cell free system, cathepsin L liberated from the digitonin-treated fraction of rat liver lysosomes, activated procaspase-3 in rat

liver cytosol (Ishisaka et al., 1999). Cathepsin C is indirectly involved in the activation of caspases through its action on the cytotoxic T cell serine protease granzyme B (Pham and Ley, 1999).

In summary, these data lead to the conclusion that cathepsins are involved in the development of apoptosis and they can act either upstream or downstream of the caspases.

2.2.1.4.3 Proteasomes

Proteasomes are large multicatalytic protease complexes that selectively degrade intracellular proteins. The 26 S proteasome consists of the 20 S (M.W. 700 kDa) proteasome with peptidase activities and regulatory complex, composed of multiple ATPases (Rivett, 1993). A protein, which is destined for degradation, is attached to multiple molecules of ubiquitin, a 76-amino acid protein. This ubiquitin-proteasome degradation pathway is very important for the degradation of short-lived proteins in eukaryotic cells. Ubiquitin is activated by an activating enzyme and is transferred to the conjugating enzyme, which helps to bind ubiquitin to the ε -amino groups of lysine residues of substrate protein (Ciechanover, 1994). Ubiquitinated protein is transferred to the proteasome, where it undergoes final degradation, and the ubiquitin is recycled. Proteasome is involved in cell cycle regulation and cell proliferation (various cyclins and proto-oncogenic proteins are proteolytically degraded by proteasome) (King et al., 1996), in antigen presentation (Rock et al., 1994), in the regulation of gene expression (Palombella et al., 1994) and can be also involved in apoptosis (Dallaporta et al., 2000).

The role of proteasomes in apoptosis remains unclear. Some reports have suggested that proteasome might be an upstream regulator of caspases (Grimm et al., 1996; Sadoul et al., 1996; Hirsch et al., 1998) and of ubiquitin gene expression (Delic et al., 1993) during apoptosis. It has been shown that functionally active proteasomes are necessary for induction of apoptosis in quiescent cells, such as thymocytes and sympathetic neurons (Grimm et al., 1996; Sadoul et al., 1996). Apoptosis in thymocytes, induced by glucocorticoids, topoisomerase II inhibitor, etoposide (Dallaporta et al., 2000; Hirsch et al., 1998; Grimm et al., 1996; Stefanelli et al., 1998), ionising radiation or phorbol ester (Grimm et al., 1996) was associated with proteasome activation. The same results have been obtained also in sympathetic neurons undergoing programmed cell death during nerve growth factor (NGF) deprivation (Sadoul et al., 1996). Specific proteasome inhibitors lactacystin and MG 123 or MG 132 prevented all of the manifestations of apoptosis.

In contrast, in proliferating cells (tumour cell lines) proteasome mediated proteolysis is known to be important for cell survival and cell cycle progression, and proteasome inhibition by specific proteasome inhibitors induces apoptosis (Kitagawa et al., 1999; Chandra et al., 1998; Glockzin et al., 1999). It appears that the proteasome can perform diverse, even opposite, functions when cells are in different growth conditions (Grassilli et al., 1998).

In summary, the results demonstrate that activation of caspases plays a crucial role in the development of apoptosis. However, in addition to caspases, other components of the proteolytic machinery involving cathepsins, calpains and proteasomes can also mediate apoptosis. Non-caspase proteases can operate either downstream of caspase and thus participate in the amplification of proteolytic cascade, or operate upstream of caspases thus triggering this proteolytic cascade.

2.2.2 Activation of apoptotic nucleases and chromatin disintegration

2.2.2.1 Role of caspase activated DNase (CAD) in apoptotic DNA fragmentation

Disintegration of nuclear DNA into oligonucleosomal fragments represents a classical manifestation of apoptosis (Wyllie et al., 1980; Kerr et al., 1972). The discovery of caspase-activated DNase (CAD) and its inhibitor ICAD (Enari et al., 1998) has provided a direct link between caspases and apoptotic DNA disintegration.

The CAD and its inhibitor ICAD have been purified from mouse lymphoid cells, the respective M.W. of these proteins is 40 kDa and 35 kDa (Enari et al., 1998). ICAD was identified only in the extracts of proliferating cells and not of the apoptotic cells. At the same time, Liu et al. (1997) and Halenbeck et al. (1998) independently purified DNA fragmentation factor (DFF) or CPAN, the proform of CAD, from human HeLa and Jurkat cells, respectively. DFF consists of two subunits of 45- and 40 kDa proteins (DFF-45 and DFF-40). Treatment with caspase-3 led to the cleavage of DFF-45 and induction of the DNA fragmentation activity. Both mouse and human CADs are very similar, their amino acid sequences are conserved (75.9% identity), but they do not have any homology with other DNases, such as DNases I and II (Enari et al., 1998; Halenbeck et al., 1998). Mouse and human CADs have a series of basic amino acids at the C-terminus of the molecule. CAD, which does not have this C-terminal stretch of 15 basic amino acids, still possesses DNase activity, but does not cause DNA fragmentation in nuclei, indicating, that amino acids 3-329 are sufficient for the DNase activity, and amino acids 330-344 are important for nuclear transport. The full-length form of ICAD (ICAD-L) is a 45-kDa protein. A short form (ICAD-S) consists of amino acids 1-265 of ICAD-L. Human DFF-45 purified in a complex with DFF-40 (CAD) and mouse ICAD have been identified as a CAD inhibitors and correspond to ICAD-L and ICAD-S respectively (Enari et al., 1998). Both ICAD-L and ICAD-S possess of two caspase-3-recognition sites (amino acid positions 117 and 224) and can efficiently bind to CAD, inhibiting its DNase and DNA fragmentation activity (Sakahira et al., 1999 a). Both of the ICAD caspase recognition sites must be cleaved by caspases-3 and -7 (but not with caspases 1, 2, 4-6, and 8) to activate CAD (Sakahira et al., 1998; Mcllroy et al., 1999; Wolf et al., 1999 b). ICAD-L, but not ICAD-S, has a specific chaperone-like activity for CAD, therefore, ICAD-L (DFF-45) is complexed with CAD (DFF-40) in the cells. As soon as apoptosis is initiated, activated caspase-3 cleaves ICAD-L and releases CAD, which is capable of degrading the chromosomal DNA. ICAD-S regulates the CAD activity by binding to the activated CAD (Nagata, 2000).

The expression of CAD and ICAD mRNAs and their proteins depends on the type of tissues or cell lines. There is a positive correlation between levels of CAD and ICAD proteins and the intensity of DNA degradation in cells induced to undergo apoptosis. If cells with low levels of CAD and ICAD proteins (fibroblasts, nerve cells) were transfected with CAD and ICAD expression vectors, they start to show extensive DNA fragmentation upon the induction of apoptosis (Mukae et al., 1998).

To understand the *in vivo* role of DFF45 in programmed cell death, Zhang et al. (1998) generated DFF45 mutant mice. The experiments revealed that in response to apoptotic stimuli, splenocytes, thymocytes, and granulocytes from DFF45 mutant mice were resistant to DNA fragmentation, and splenocytes and thymocytes were also resistant to chromatin condensation. Similar results have been obtained with lymphoid and myeloid cell lines, expressing caspase-resistant ICAD (McIlroy et

al., 1999; Sakahira et al., 1998). When these cell lines were induced to undergo apoptosis, they did not show DNA fragmentation, because ICAD remained intact. These data confirm the concept, that apoptotic DNA fragmentation is regulated by the CAD/ICAD system, which is downstream of caspase-3 (Nagata, 2000).

Activation of an endonuclease which preferentially cleaves DNA at the internucleosomal regions, has been considered as a biochemical hallmark of apoptosis for many of years (Wyllie et al., 1980; Liu et al., 1997). Another type of DNA cleavage during apoptosis has been described to yield a set of HMW-DNA fragments sized about 50-100 kb (Cohen et al., 1992; Oberhammer et al., 1993). The cleavage of nuclear DNA into HMW fragments has been shown to precede the formation of the oligonucleosomal DNA ladder in many cell types, and in several cell lines it can even occur in the absence of internucleosomal DNA fragmentation (Brown et al., 1993). The formation of HMW-DNA fragments is considered to be an early critical event during apoptotic DNA disintegration (Oberhammer et al., 1993), and is widely thought to result from the disassembly of higher-level chromatin structural domains (Lagarkova et al., 1995; Li et al., 1999).

Compactization of DNA in the cell nucleus is achieved by the several hierarchical levels of chromatin folding. At the lower level of chromatin folding nuclear DNA is tightly bound to disc-like structures of histones forming a repeating order of DNA-protein particles called nucleosomes (Fig. 2, A, B, Alberts et al., 1989).

The nucleosome is a disc-shaped particle with a diameter of about 11 nm, consisting of an octameric histone core (2 copies of nucleosomal histones H2A, H2B, H3, H4) with two full turns of double-stranded DNA helix (83 nucleotide pairs per turn) wound around, plus adjacent "linker DNA". The length of the linker DNA, the region between nucleosomes, can vary in length from 0 to 80 base pairs. Nucleosomes are spaced at intervals of about 200 base pairs along the DNA, resulting in the formation of "beads-on-a-string" chromatin structure. The nucleosome "bead" can be removed from the DNA "string" by the DNA degrading enzymes.

The next order of DNA organisation in the chromatin is the packing of nucleosomes in the 30- nm chromatin fibers (Fig. 2, C). This type of packing requires one molecule of histone H1 per nucleosome. The molecule of H1 has a central conserved globular region connected to the extended amino-terminal and carboxyl-terminal "arms". Every H1 molecule binds to the specific site on a nucleosome by its globular region and the arms reach other sites on the histone cores of adjacent nucleosomes thus providing regular arrays in which the DNA is more highly condensed.



Fig. 2. Schematic illustration of some of the many orders of chromatin packing (by Alberts et al., 1989)

The higher-order structure of chromatin is provided by the formation of looped domains, loops of chromatin that extend from the chromosome axis (Fig. 2, D, E; 3). These looped domains may be formed and maintained by DNA-binding proteins that recognise the regions of specific nucleotide sequences and clamp 30 nm chromatin fibers together (Fig. 3, A). Another way for the formation of chromatin loops is binding of the DNA at the base of the loop to the chromatin axis (Fig. 3, B). Cleavage of the chromatin superstructure into 300 kb fragments corresponds to rosette-like formations that contain six individual α -helical loops and 50 kb fragments correspond to individual loop domains (Filipski et al., 1990).

The axial regions where the ends of DNA loops are located, are highly enriched for DNA topoisomerase II, an enzyme that forms covalent bonds to both strands of the DNA helix, making a transient double-strand break in the helix. Topoisomerase I and II play important roles during DNA replication, forming a "swivel" in the DNA helix. Taking into account the ability of topoisomerase II to cleave the double-strand DNA helix and the position of the enzyme on the ends of DNA loops,

one can hypothesise that topoisomerase II may be involved in the HMW-DNA cleavage which occurs during apoptosis.



Fig. 3. Schematic views of a section of a chromosome folded into a series of looped domains, each containing perhaps 20,000 to 100,000 nucleotide pairs of double-stranded DNA condensed in a 30-nm chromatin fiber. (A) A folding model requiring sequence-specific DNA-binding proteins at each end of a loop. (B) A folding model requiring a chromosome axis. The axial region of isolated mitotic chromosomes (where the ends of the loops are located) is highly enriched for the abundant enzyme DNA topoisomerase II (by Alberts et al., 1989)

2.2.2.2 Role of non-CADs in nuclear apoptosis

In most mammalian models of apoptosis, the inhibition of activated caspases does not prevent cell death. In some cases, caspase inhibitors may only retard the cell death. This is the case for Fas/Apo-1/CD95-induced apoptosis in L929 cells (Vercammen et al., 1998). The cell death following the inhibition of caspase activity may occur either in the presence (Dong et al., 1998) or in the absence of internucleosomal DNA fragmentation (McCarthy et al., 1997), thus suggesting that caspase/CAD pathway is redundant in apoptosis.

Recently new data concerning a mammalian death effector called apoptosis inducing factor (AIF) have been reported (Lorenzo et al., 1999). AIF bears a highly significant homology with oxidoreductases from eukaryotes and prokaryotes in its C-terminal part (Susin et al., 1999). AIF is localised in the cell in mitochondrial intermembrane space. Within the oxidoreductase-like domain

of AIF, there are nuclear localisation signals which are compatible with translocation of AIF to the nucleus during induction of apoptosis. This nuclear relocalisation of AIF leads to the minor peripheral chromatin condensation (stage I) and DNA disintegration into HMW-DNA fragments of ~50 kbp without the formation of an oligonucleosomal DNA ladder (Lorenzo et al., 1999). As shown in experiments on mouse embryonic fibroblasts obtained from caspase 3^{-/-} or Apaf-1^{-/-} mice, microinjection of such cells with recombinant AIF causes only peripheral chromatin condensation (stage I), whereas microinjection with activated caspase 3 or its downstream target CAD causes more profound chromatin condensation (stage II). The same results have been obtained also in cell free system experiments on purified HeLa nuclei (Susin et al., 2000). AIF and CAD act independently from each other during the induction of nuclear apoptosis. Inhibition of CAD by ICAD or immunodepletion of AIF failed to block nuclear DNA loss in purified HeLa nuclei treated with apoptotic cytosols. At the same time, when AIF immunodepletion was combined with ICAD treatment, apoptotic DNA loss was prevented (Susin et al., 2000). Thus AIF and CAD belongs to distinct pathways of nuclear apoptosis, acting in a redundant fashion.

Microinjections of recombinant AIF into the cytoplasm of live cells lead to the morphological and biochemical changes typical of apoptosis. None of these changes is prevented by the broad spectrum caspase inhibitor z-VAD-fmk, suggesting that they are caspase-independent (Susin et al., 1999). To summarise these data, one could propose that AIF is a possible effector of a caspase-independent cell death that causes changes associated with apoptosis. Taking into consideration the fact that translocation of AIF from mitochondria to the nucleus leads to the formation of HMW-DNA fragmentation, but not to an oligonucleosomal ladder, one would predict that AIF must activate some nuclease(s) distinct from CAD. These DNase(s) may represent domain nuclease(s) and cleave nuclear DNA into HMW-DNA fragments in a caspase-independent manner.

2.3 Role of apoptosis in neuronal development and degeneration

The programmed cell death that occurs during development was firstly described for nervous system (Oppenheim, 1991). Neurons seem to be produced during developmental stage in much greater numbers than those found in the adults and these excess neurons are eliminated (reviewed by Oppenheim, 1991). The reason for this abundant overproduction of neurons is unknown, but the most common hypothesis is that neurons compete for contacts with their cellular partners and thus diminish their numbers to those sufficient for innervation of their targets (Pettmann and Henderson, 1998). The reason of neuronal death during development may be competition for access to limiting quantities of neurotrophic factors produced by their target cells and unsuccessful cells then die (Oppenheim, 1991). In C. elegans, neurons destined to die may express specific genes that predispose them to cell death (Ellis and Horvitz, 1986).

Abnormal neuronal cell death may occur after stroke, trauma and in the neurodegenerative diseases (ND): amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), Parkinson's disease (PD), Alzheimer's disease (AD) etc. In the majority of cases, ND are sporadic and their causal events have rarely been identified. Familial forms of ND are similar, but not identical to the sporadic diseases. Familial ND are traced back to mutations or deletions of genes, for example, familial PD is associated with loss of dopaminergic midbrain neurons as a result of a mutation in the gene for α -synuclein, which is normally expressed in presynaptic nerve terminals (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997). Mutations in genes coding presenilins 1 (PS-1) and 2 (PS-2) are associated with AD (Hardy, 1996) and, finally,

mutations in Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase (SOD) seems to cause the loss of cortical and spinal motoneurons in patients with familial ALS (Brown, 1997).

Neuronal cell death after trauma, stroke and some ND may occur as a result of excitotoxicity caused by enhanced levels of excitatory amino acids, in particular, glutamate. During ischemic brain injury, glutamate accumulation leads to overstimulation of postsynaptic glutamate receptors, influx of Ca²⁺, Na⁺, Cl and H₂O, resulting in marked cell body swelling and cell death with subsequent release of endogenous glutamate (reviewed by Choi, 1995) that eventually provokes "secondary lesions" during days and weeks after the insult. The acute cell death related to hypoxia or to injury may be similar to necrosis, whereas a secondary lesion may occur due to an apoptotic type of cell death (Bonfoco et al., 1995). In cultured CGCs, glutamate can induce either early necrosis or delayed apoptosis (Ankarcrona et al., 1995). One subpopulation of cells die by necrosis during and shortly after exposure to neurotoxic concentrations of glutamate. Dying neurons rapidly lose their mitochondrial membrane potential and energy charge. Neurons that survive in this necrotic phase recover their mitochondrial activity but later undergo apoptosis. Similar results have been obtained with hippocampal cells: neurons surviving the initial necrotic stage of glutamate-induced cell death started to undergo DNA cleavage typical of apoptosis (Lauritzen et al., 1997). These results confirm that excitotoxicity induced in neuronal cells by glutamate treatment occurs by both necrotic and apoptotic routes of cell death.

AD is characterised by a progressive cognitive impairment that is a consequence of extensive neuronal loss (Berg et al., 1993). The principal pathological feature of the disease is the extracellular deposition of fibrillar amyloid- β peptide (A β) and its compaction on into insoluble senile plaques (Hyman, 1998). Mutations in the gene coding for the A β precursor protein (APP) and in the presenilin genes mediating proteolytic processing of APP are associated with increased production of the 42-amino-acid form of the peptide (A $\beta_{1^{-42}}$), which is the predominant form found in the amyloid plaques of AD (Hardy, 1996; Scheuner et al., 1994). This insoluble form of amyloid is produced as a result of cleavage of APP by β - and γ -secretases, whereas the soluble or diffuse form of amyloid A $\beta_{1^{-42}}$ (P3) is produced by α -secretase (Halliday et al., 2000). Only A β_{1-42} , but not A $\beta_{1^{-42}}$, is able to bind to complement and activate microglia which then release the membrane attack complexes (MAC) and free radicals that are involved in the deposition of A β and neurodegeneration of neurons (Halliday et al., 2000). Caspases are other candidate enzymes to cleave APP to A β peptide and these enzymes are activated during apoptosis (Marin et al., 2000).

Incubation of cultured cells with A β promotes the cells to die by apoptosis. As shown by Marin et al. (2000), A β_{25-35} induced apoptosis in cerebellar neurons from rat pups by activation of caspase-3. A β -induced apoptosis in differentiated SH-SY-5Y human neuroblastoma cells was associated with calcium influx and increased generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Ekinci et al., 2000). Cell culture experiments revealed that incubation of cortical neurons with antioxidants B27, vitamin E and U83836 E, a vitamin E analog, effectively protected the cultured neurons against A β_{25-35} - induced cytotoxicity (Huang et al., 2000).

The ROS may be required as intermediates in A β -induced activation of the transcription factor NF- κ B as shown on CGCs and in neurons and astroglia of brain sections from AD patients (Kaltschmidt et al., 1997). These results suggest that abnormal gene expression in diseased nervous tissue is at least in part due to A β -induced activation of NF- κ B, an early transcriptional regulator of numerous proinflammatory genes. All of these findings point to some link between deposition of

A β , oxidative stress, disruption of ion homeostasis and an apoptotic form of neuronal death in AD. Expression of the human PS-1 L286V mutation in PC12 cells increased their susceptibility to apoptosis induced by trophic factor withdrawal and A β . Increases in oxidative stress and intracellular calcium levels induced by the apoptotic stimuli were exacerbated greatly in cells expressing the PS-1 mutation, as compared with control cell lines and lines overexpressing wild-type PS-1 (Guo et al., 1997; Furukawa et al., 1998). Expression of PS-1 mutation in PC12 cells results also in aberrant differentiation responses to nerve growth factor (NGF) and suppression of DNA binding activity of the transcription factor AP-1, induced by NGF (Furukawa et al., 1998).

The PSs are membrane proteins that are localized mainly in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Their normal function and pathogenic roles in AD are not known. PSs are thought to be involved in APP processing, expression of mutant PSs in cultured cells and transgenic mice results in increased production of an amyloidogenic-cytotoxic form of A β (Mattson and Guo, 1997). Defective presenilin function causes chromosome mis-segregation during mitosis resulting in apoptosis (Li et al., 1997). Thus, there is evidence that PSs mutations are involved in the pathogenesis of neuronal degeneration in AD and sensitise the cells to apoptosis in cell culture models (Li et al., 1997; Mattson et al., 1998).

Caspases, the main executioners of apoptosis, actively contribute to the molecular pathogenesis of neurological diseases. For example, the presence of activated caspase 8 has been shown in the insoluble fraction affected brain regions from Huntington's disease of (HD) patients, but not in those from control patients (Sanchez et al., 1999). Caspases appear to be involved in the molecular pathology of HD by directly cleaving huntingtin and generation toxic protein fragments containing the polyglutamine tract (Wellington and Hayden, 2000). Several proteins involved in AD including APP and PSs are also cleaved by caspases (Wellington and Hayden, 2000). Activated caspase 3 and DNA fragmentation have been detected in both neurons and astrocytes in frontotemporal dementia (FTD) cases and cerebral ischemia models (Su et al., 2000; Wiessner et al., 2000). Some therapeutic approaches may be linked with inhibition of caspase activation during apoptotic neuronal death in ALS, cerebral ischemia, HD and AD (Li et al. 2000; Wiessner et al., 2000; Wellington and Hayden, 2000). At the same time, there is some evidence that neuronal apoptosis may proceed in a caspase-independent manner (Nicotera, 2000; Ray, 2000), which poses the question whether caspase inhibitors could potentially be used to prevent excess apoptosis in disease states. Other approaches may be undertaken, especially, the possible use of trophic factors to regulate plasticity in the adult nervous system, which represents potential drug target in neurodegeneration associated human diseases (Froestl, 2000).

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aim of the present study was to investigate the mechanisms of DNA disintegration during neuronal apoptosis and to clarify whether HMW- and internucleosomal DNA cleavage represent separate types of apoptotic DNA disintegration.

The specific aims were as follows:

1. To determine whether apoptosis induced by different insults in neuronal cells can proceed with a distinct pattern of DNA disintegration (I)

2. To elucidate whether HMW- and internucleosomal DNA cleavage represent independent programmes of apoptotic DNA disintegration (\mathbf{I}, \mathbf{II})

3. To investigate the role of caspases in the activation of HMW-DNA fragmentation (III, IV)

4. To explore whether suramin a multitargeted antiproliferative drug prevents the apoptosis associated with distinct pattern of DNA disintegration (V)

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Reagents

The substrates for caspase-1, Ac-YVAD-AMC (Cat. #400020); caspase-2, Z-VDVAD-AFC (Cat. #218740); caspase-5, Ac-WEHD-AFC (Cat. #218754); caspase-9, Ac-LEHD-AFC (Cat.# 218765); cathepsin B, Z-Arg-Arg- AMC (Cat.#219392) and calpain I and II (Cat.#208723), as well as etoposide, OKA, Ara-C, staurosporine and suramin were purchased from Calbiochem. Ac-DEVD-AMC (Cat. #66081T), a caspase-3 substrate, and recombinant caspase-3 were from Pharmingen. Anti-poly-(ADP-ribose)-polymerase polyclonal antibody and CompleteTM proteinase inhibitors were supplied by Boehringer. Anti-c-Jun, anti-c-Fos, anti-p53 antibodies were provided by Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. ECL-nitrocellulose membrane (0.45 μ m) and horse radish peroxidase-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit immunoglobulin F(ab)² fragment were purchased from Amersham. ECL-solution (Pierce), Hoechst 33258, MTT reagent, DMEM medium with 1,000 and 4,500 mg/l glucose, L-glutamate , ATA, MK-801 were provided by Sigma, IMMU-MOUNT TM by Shandon Inc., CytoTox 96^R Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay by Promega. Fetal calf serum and trypsin-EDTA were from Gibco BRL. Protein Assay Kit was from Bio- Rad Laboratories and 1 kb-DNA ladder and midrange II PFG molecular weight markers from New England Biolabs.

4.2 Cell culture

Mouse NB 2A neuroblastoma cells, obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (CCL 131), were cultured in an atmosphere of 10% CO₂ at $+37^{\circ}$ C in DMEM medium with 1,000 mg glucose/l, supplemented with 2.0 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin and 10% fetal calf serum.

The suspension of CGCs was prepared from 7-day old rats as described previously (Korhonen et al., 1997). Cells were plated to a desired density $(2.0-2.5 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/cm}^2)$ to the poly-D-lysine coated Nunc dishes (90 mm diameter) or 12-well Nunc plates, containing coverslips inside. CGCs cultures were maintained in an atmosphere of 10% CO₂ at +37^oC in DMEM, containing 4,500 mg glucose/l, supplemented with 2.0 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin and inactivated 10% fetal calf serum. The total amount of medium was 0.2-0.25 ml/cm².

4.3 Induction of apoptosis

Apoptosis in NB 2A cells was induced in exponentially growing cells either by serum withdrawal or by the treatment of cells with etoposide (5 - 40 μ M), staurosporine (40 nM), OKA (10 - 100 nM), or Ara-C (0.5-2 μ M). Treatments were performed up to 3 days. The CGCs cultures 8- to 9-day old were treated with OKA (40 nM) (0-48 h) or 50 μ M L-glutamate (15 min). The treatment of CGCs with L-glutamate was carried out in Locke's salt solution as described previously (Korhonen et al., 1997) followed by washing with the same solution containing 1mM MgSO₄ and reincubation in the old culture medium up to 36 h. The control cells were subjected to the same procedure without L-glutamate. In experiments with MK-801 (10 μ M), ATA (100 μ M) and suramin (100 μ M, 200 μ M) the chemicals were added 1 or 2 h before cell treatment and were

present during and after L-glutamate treatment. In CGCs, apoptosis was induced also by incubation of the cells for 0-48 h in serum-deficient medium, containing 5 mM KCl (Ser⁻/K⁻).

4.4 Cell harvesting

After removing of cell culture medium, the cells were washed once in ice-cold PBS. Cells were scraped in 1 ml of ice-cold PBS, followed by washing of culture plates with 0.5 ml ice-cold PBS. Cells were combined and collected by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm for 5 min. The gathered cells were either immediately used for analysis or stored at -70° C until required.

4.5 Measurement of cell viability

4.5.1 LDH assay

The assessment of cytotoxicity was performed according to CytoTox 96^{R} Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay Kit, which quantitatively measures LDH, a stable cytosolic enzyme that is released upon cell lysis (study III). Cell culture medium (500 µl) was taken from different samples and centrifuged at 1,000 rpm for 4 min. Then, 50 µl of each supernatant in triplicate were transferred to a 96-well enzymatic assay plate. To evaluate the target cell maximum LDH release, cells were incubated with 0.8% Triton X-100 (final concentration) in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37^{0} C for 45 minutes to yield complete lysis of cells. Then, 50 µl of the reconstituted substrate mix was added to each well. After incubation for 30 minutes at room temperature in the dark, the reaction was stopped by addition of 50 µl of stop solution to each well. After removal of bubbles, the absorbance was measured at 490 nm in an microplate reader (Microplate Manager^R 4.0 Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.) within one hour after the addition of stop solution.

4.5.2 MTT test

Conversion of MTT to coloured formazan catalyzed by the viable, but not dead cells, was used for measurement of cell viability (studies I, V). Cells $(7.2 \times 10^4$ /well) were plated in 12-well plates and cultured for 24 h in culture medium. Apoptosis was induced as described above, and 100 µl of MTT reagent (5 mg/ml in PBS) was added to the cell samples in 900 µl of medium followed by incubation for 1 h at 37°C. After removal of culture medium, 1.0-1.5 ml of lysis buffer (10% SDS, 50% DMF, 2% acetic acid, 2.5% 1N HCI) were added and left for at least 24 h at 37°C. Then, 200 µl of each sample in triplicate were transferred to 96-well Costar plates and absorbance was measured at 595 nm in microplate reader. The results are presented as per cent of the control.

4.5.3 Cytofluorometric analysis

For identification of cells at the late stages of apoptosis or those that have already died, we used cytofluorometric analysis based on the DNA staining by fluorescent dye PI, which cross plasma membrane only after loss of its integrity (Bezvenyuk et al., 2000). Cells (1.0×10^6) were resuspended in 500 µl PBS. The cell suspension was added (drop by drop) into continuously rotating tube with 70% EtOH (5 ml of EtOH pre-cooled at - 20^oC). After incubation at -20^oC for 2 h, the cell suspension was centrifuged 1,500 rpm for 5 minutes and EtOH was removed. Cells were resuspended in 1 ml PBS containing RNase (0.15 mg/ml) and incubated over night at +37^oC in a shaker followed by PI staining (75µg/ml) at +37^oC for 2 h. The DNA content was measured at

575 nm on a FACS (Becton Dickinson, USA). Data were analysed with CellQuest software (Becton Dickinson, USA). In all experiments, 10,000 cells were collected.

4.6 Analysis of apoptosis

4.6.1 Nuclear morphology (Hoechst staining)

One of the main features of apoptosis is chromatin condensation and fragmentation of the nuclei into apoptotic bodies. Nuclear morphology was analysed by staining of DNA with Hoechst 33258 dye (studies I-V). To examine nuclear morphology, the coverslips with attached cells were transferred to the 12-well culture plate, washed once in 2 ml PBS and fixed with 1ml 4.0% PFA in PEM buffer, pH 6.8 (100 mM PIPES, 5.0 mM EGTA, 2.0 mM MgCb) for 10 min at room temperature. After permeabilisation with 0.2% Triton X-100 for 10 min, cells were stained with 500 μ l of the Hoechst 33258 (0.2 μ g/ml in PBS) nuclear dye-solution for 10 min in dark at RT and washed 3 times with 2 ml PBS. Coverslips were mounted cell side down in IMMU-MOUNT TM on the objective slides and apoptotic nuclear morphology was analysed with a fluorescent microscope (Nikon, Japan). Nuclei bearing three or more pieces of fragmented chromatin were scored as apoptotic. In each experimental setting, 10-15 independent fields, comprising all together about 1,000 nuclei, were monitored.

4.6.2 Western blot

Western blot was used for detection of proteolytic cleavage of PARP, a nuclear enzyme involved in DNA repair. PARP cleavage by an ICE-like protease represents an early biochemical event in apoptosis (study I). Cells were resuspended in 40 µl of 60 mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8) with 10% glycerol. SDS to the final concentration of 2.0% was added to each sample, and samples were boiled for 10 min. After centrifugation (12,000 rpm for 12 min at room temperature) the protein in the supernatant was measured according to the Bio- Rad Protein Assay. Then, 30 µg of extracted polypeptides in loading buffer (60 mM Tris-HCl, pH 6.8, 2.0% SDS, 0.2 % BFB, 10% glycerol, 5.0% BME) were resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE in running buffer (24.8 mM Tris (base), 200 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS) at 200 V for 1.5 h. The gel was soaked in transfer buffer (24 mM Tris (base), 192 mM glycine, 20% methanol) for 30 min and electrophoretically transferred in the same buffer onto nitro-cellulose membrane at 20 V overnight. The membranes were stained with Ponceau S for 5 min and washed twice for 5 min in PBS. After washing, the membranes were blocked for 1 h in blocking solution (1% BSA, 0.5% dry milk, PBS-0.05% Tween-20) at RT and washed three times for 5 min with PBS-0.05% Tween-20, followed by incubation for 2 h at RT with the antipoly-(ADP-ribose)-polymerase polyclonal antibody (1:2000 in blocking buffer). After incubation, the membranes were washed as described above and incubated with the secondary antibody (horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti- rabbit immunoglobulin F(ab)² fragment) (1:4000 in blocking buffer) for 1 h at RT. After washing in PBS+0.05% Tween-20, membranes were finally washed with PBS without Tween-20 for 15 min, incubated with ECL-solution (Pierce) (10 -30 sec.) and exposed against ECL-film.

4.6.3 Analysis of protease activity

4.6.3.1 Caspases

Activation of caspases is early marker of the cells undergoing apoptosis. Measurement of caspase activity is one of the obligatory parameters in analysis of apoptotic cell death (studies I-V). Cells were lysed in 10 volumes of ice-cold hypotonic buffer (1.0 mM DTT, 10 mM KCI, 2.0 mM MgCI₂, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM EGTA, 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 0.1 mM PMSF) on ice for 20 min. After centrifugation (4,500 rpm for 5 min at + 4^{0} C), the supernatant was further clarified by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 20 min at 4^{0} C. After measurement of protein concentration (Bio-Rad Protein Assay), the activity of caspases in cytosolic extracts (protein concentration 0.2 mg/ml) was assayed in the protease assay buffer (20 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 10% glycerol, 2.0 mM DTT) containing 20 μ M of fluorogenic caspase substrates (Nicholson et al., 1995). After incubation at 37^{0} C for 2 h, activity of caspases was measured by Wallac 1420 VictorTM Multilabel Counter with an excitation wavelength of 355 nm and an emission wavelength of 460 nm for caspase-1 and -3 substrates and, correspondingly, 405/535 nm for caspase-2, -5 and -9 substrates. Caspase activities are presented in arbitrary units.

4.6.3.2 Cathepsin B and calpains

An increasing number of evidence suggests that non-caspase proteases may also be involved in apoptosis. Cathepsin B activity was measured in cell lysates diluted with the protease assay buffer (0.4 M Na-acetate (pH 5.5), 4.0 mM EDTA). After centrifugation (1,250 rpm, 20 min) samples were analysed using cathepsin B fluorogenic substrate Z-Arg-Arg-AMC as described previously (Barret and Kirschke, 1981).

Calpain activity was analysed in cytosolic extracts after incubation at 30° C for 5-10 min with 60 mM imidazole-HCl buffer (pH 7.3), 5.0 mM L-cysteine, 2.5 mM BME, 5.0 mM CaCb, 4% Me₂SO and 20 μ M of calpain fluorogenic substrate. Fluorescence of AMC was monitored using a spectrofluorometer (Wallac 1420 VictorTM Multilabel Counter). The results are presented in arbitrary units.

4.6.4 Analysis of DNA integrity

One of the later steps in apoptosis is disintegration of nuclear DNA into fragments of 50 to 300 kb (HMW-DNA fragmentation) and subsequently into smaller DNA pieces of about 200 bp length (oligonucleosomal DNA ladder). To analyse both types of DNA fragmentation we used conventional and field inversion gel electrophoresis (FIGE) (study I-V). Cells were collected, resuspended in 15 μ l of PBS and pre-heated at 42^oC for 5 s. For purification of DNA an equal volume of 1.5% low-melting point agarose pre-heated at 42^oC (in PBS buffer containing 5.0 mM EDTA) was added to the cell suspention and mixed well. The cell suspension was placed into the wells of pre-cooled 24-well cell culture plate and left to solidify for 5 min at 4^oC. Agarose-embedded cells were incubated for 1 h at 37^oC with 500 μ l of lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 20 mM EDTA, 50 mM NaCl) containing 0.5% sodium sarcosyl, 50 μ g/ml RNase A, 100 μ g/ml proteinase K. Agarose plugs, containing deproteinised DNA, were washed three times with 0.5X TBE buffer (0.045 M Tris, 0.045 M boric acid, 1.0 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) and quantitatively

loaded to wells of 1% agarose gel. The wells were covered with 1.5% low-melting point agarose. The integrity of DNA was analysed in the samples by the conventional gel electrophoresis at 5.0 V/cm for 2-3 h, using 0.5X TBE buffer or by FIGE at 4.0 V/cm for 18 h in 0.5 TBE buffer under constant pulses of electric field (24 s forward and 8 s backward) as previously described (Solovyan and Salminen, 1999).

4.7 Cell free apoptosis assay

4.7.1 Isolation of nuclei

Isolated nuclei (substrate nuclei) were used in cell free apoptosis assay (studies I, II, IV, V). Cells were scraped and harvested by centrifugation at 500 x g for 5 min followed by washing once with PBS and once with ice-cold nuclei isolation buffer (NIB) (10 mM PIPES pH 7.4, 10 mM KCl, 2.0 mM MgC_b, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM EGTA, 1.0 mM DTT, 0.2 mM PMSF). The cells were resuspended in 10 volumes of NIB and allowed to swell on ice for 20 min, followed by lysis in Dounce homogeniser with 100 gentle strokes of a B-type pestle. The crude nuclear pellet was obtained by centrifugation of cell lysate at 4,500 rpm for 5 min, nuclei were layered over 1 M sucrose, prepared in NIB, and centrifuged at 4,500 rpm for 10 min, followed by washing once in nuclear isolation buffer and resuspension in nuclei storage buffer (10mM PIPES, pH 7.4, 80 mM KCl, 20 mM NaCl, 250 mM sucrose, 5.0 mM EGTA, 1.0 mM DTT, 0.5 mM spermidine, 0.2 mM spermine, 50% glycerol, 1.0 mM PMSF) at 2.0x10⁸ nuclei/ml. Nuclei were stored at -70^oC in 20 µl aliquots until required.

4.7.2 Induction and analysis of nuclear apoptosis

To better understand the mechanism of apoptotic execution that occurs *in vivo* we have used an apoptotic cell free system assay (studies I, II, IV, V). Cells were lysed in 1.5-2.0 volumes of ice-cold hypotonic buffer, and cytosolic extracts were prepared as described in "Analysis of protease activity" (see above). Cytosolic extracts were used at a final concentration of 5.0 mg/ml protein.

Nuclei (2 μ l from the stock 2.0x10⁸ nuclei/ml) isolated from normal cells were incubated with 20 μ l of cytosolic extract for 2 h at 37^oC. Then, 2 μ l of incubation mixture were transferred to the 50 μ l of protease assay buffer for analysis of protease activity. Rest of the mixture was embedded into low-melting point agarose, lysed and fractionated by gel electrophoresis for analysis of DNA integrity as described in the section "Analysis of DNA integrity".

5. RESULTS

5.1 Neuronal apoptosis induced by genotoxic and nongenotoxic agents is associated with distinct patterns of DNA fragmentation (I)

The results presented here demonstrate that serum deprivation and etoposide both induced apoptosis in NB 2A cells, accompanied by caspase activation and changes in nuclear morphology typical of apoptosis. However, apoptosis induced by two these insults was associated with a distinct pattern of DNA fragmentation. The treatment of the cells with etoposide led to the formation of HMW-DNA fragments of about 50-100 kb and 300 kb without the formation of an oligonucleosomal DNA ladder. Serum deprivation-induced apoptosis was associated with disintegration of nuclear DNA into 50-100 kb DNA fragments and a low molecular weight oligonucleosomal DNA ladder (Fig. 5 A, study I). Incubation of serum-deprived NB 2A cells in the presence of etoposide resulted in an additive effect on the pattern of DNA fragmentation: disintegration of nuclear DNA started earlier, was more intense and involved both 50-100 and 300 kb DNA fragments as seen in cells treated with etoposide, as well as the oligonucleosomal DNA ladder, observed in serum-deprived cells (Fig. 5 B, study I). The differences in the pattern of DNA disintegration were reproducible in a cell free apoptotic system after incubation of isolated nonapoptotic nuclei with cytosolic extracts prepared from either serum-deprived cells or from cells treated with etoposide. Incubation of nuclei with cytosol prepared from serum-deprived cells resulted in the formation of HMW fragments and a low molecular weight oligonucleosomal DNA ladder. However, cytosol prepared from etoposide-treated cells was able to induce only HMW-DNA fragmentation in substrate nuclei without formation of an oligonucleosomal DNA ladder (Fig. 6, study I). The results suggest that the lack of internucleosomal cleavage represents an intrinsic property of etoposide-induced apoptosis.

Etoposide is known to target actively proliferating cells. The high proliferative status of the cultured neuroblastoma cells could be one reason for the differences in the pattern of DNA disintegration in serum-deprived and etoposide-treated cells. To clarify this, we analysed DNA fragmentation in nonproliferating CGCs after treatment with etoposide or incubation in serum/potassium deprived medium. Both etoposide and serum and potassium deprivation induced apoptosis in CGCs accompanied by caspase-3 activation, DNA fragmentation and the appearance of nuclear apoptotic morphology (Fig. 9, study I). The results thus indicate, that the topoisomerase II inhibitor, etoposide, can induce apoptosis both in proliferating cells and nonproliferating post-mitotic neurons. In contrast to serum/potassium deprivation, etoposide induced DNA fragmentation in CGCs without DNA laddering (Fig. 9 A, study I). The results suggest, that different apoptotic stimuli can induce apoptosis with distinct patterns of nuclear DNA disintegration both in proliferating and nonproliferating cells, and that the distinct pathways are involved in apoptotic internucleosomal- and HMW-DNA cleavage at least in NB 2A cells.

5.2 Apoptotic disintegration of nuclear DNA into HMW-DNA fragments proceeds independently of internucleosomal DNA cleavage in NB 2A cells (I, II)

We extended our observations and demonstrated that genotoxic and nongenotoxic stimuli induced apoptotic DNA fragmentation that possessed a differential susceptibility to the ATA and Zn²⁺,

inhibitors of apoptotic nucleases, to the protein synthesis inhibitor, cycloheximide, and to the suramin, a multi-targeted antiproliferative drug. ATA, cycloheximide and suramin effectively prevented internucleosomal and HMW-DNA cleavage in serum-deprived or OKA treated cells, but had only a slight or no obvious inhibitory effect on HMW- DNA disintegration in etoposide or Ara-C treated cells (Fig. 7 and 8, study I; Fig. 6, study II), thus indicating that distinct pathway underlay DNA disintegration during apoptosis that proceeds with distinct pattern of DNA cleavage. Furthermore, we demonstrated that incubation of serum-deprived cells in the presence of Zn²⁺-ions led to the abrogation of internucleosomal DNA fragmentation, but to the accumulation of HMW-DNA fragments with the pattern being similar to that observed in etoposide treated cells (Fig. 3, study II).

The cell free system experiments showed that a brief heating of the cytosolic extract prepared from the serum-deprived cells had no effect on the oligonucleosomal DNA ladder, but inhibited the cytosol-dependent formation of HMW-DNA fragments in substrate nuclei. Addition of Zn²⁺- ions to cytosolic extract abrogated the appearance of oligonucleosomal DNA ladder, but had no effect on HMW-DNA fragments (Fig. 5, study II). These data indicate that the apoptotic formation of HMW-DNA fragments may proceed separately of the internucleosomal DNA cleavage.

5.3 HMW-DNA cleavage represents a common step in caspase-dependent and caspase - independent types of neuronal cell death (III, IV)

The treatment of CGCs with phosphatase inhibitor, OKA, or brief incubation of cells with the excitatory neurotransmitter, L-glutamate, both resulted in extensive changes in the cell and nuclear morphology, indicative of cell death. Both L-glutamate and OKA provoke similar changes in nuclear morphology associated with chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation. At the same time the cytotoxicity induced by OKA was associated with activation of caspase-3 like proteases in contrast to the L-glutamate induced cell death (Fig. 1, study III). No activation of caspase -1, -2, - 5 or -9 was observed during L-glutamate induced cytotoxicity. These results suggest that glutamate induces a caspase-independent type of cell death.

The analysis of DNA integrity showed that cell death induced by OKA was accompanied both by oligonucleosomal DNA ladder and HMW-DNA fragmentation. At the same time, L-glutamate induced only HMW-DNA cleavage without internucleosomal DNA fragmentation (Fig. 2, study III). In both cases the similar patterns of HMW-DNA cleavage proceeded with similar kinetics and intensity and involved the formation of 300 kb DNA fragments with their subsequent degradation into 50 kb DNA fragments. Despite this similarity, HMW-DNA cleavage in L-glutamate-treated cells was effectively prevented by MK-801, a L-glutamate receptor blocker, ATA, a general inhibitor of apoptotic nucleases, as well as by Zn^{2+} and Cd^{2+} -ions. At the same time the HMW-DNA cleavage in OKA-treated cells was inhibited only by Cd^{2+} -ions with no apparent inhibitory effect being observed for MK-801, ATA or Zn^{2+} (Fig. 3, study III).

In OKA-treated cells, both internucleosomal- and HMW-DNA fragmentation were effectively inhibited by Z-DEVD-fmk, a specific caspase-3 inhibitor, as well as Z-VAD-fmk, a general caspase inhibitor. In contrast, neither z-DEVD-fmk, nor Z-VAD-fmk had any apparent inhibitory effect on the formation of HMW-DNA fragments induced by L-glutamate (Fig. 4, study III).

These results suggest that different mechanisms are involved in the formation of HMW-DNA fragments during OKA and L-glutamate induced cytotoxicity.

We further investigated in the cell free system experiments the role of caspases in the disintegration of nuclear DNA into the HMW-DNA fragments. We demonstrated that incubation of a non-apoptotic cytosolic extract with recombinant caspase-3 could initiate the disintegration of DNA in substrate nuclei into the HMW- but not oligonucleosomal DNA fragments, and this HMW-DNA cleavage was almost completely suppressed by Z-VAD-fmk (Fig. 3 A, study IV). The incubation of the cytosolic extract with proteinase K resulted in similar disintegration of nuclear DNA into the HMW fragments and in activation of endogenous caspase-3. However, in contrast to the recombinant caspase-3, proteinase K-dependent induction of the HMW-DNA fragmentation was not inhibitable by Z-VAD-fmk (Fig. 3 B, study IV). Finally, the incubation of endogenous caspase-3. Z-VAD-fmk had no inhibiting effect on this HMW-DNA fragmentation (Fig. 3 C, study IV). Collectively, these findings suggest that there are multiple pathways of activation of HMW-DNA cleavage, and the formation of HMW-DNA fragments can be induced in both caspase-dependent and -independent manners.

5.4 Caspase/CAD pathway is not essential for HMW-DNA cleavage during apoptosis ($\mathrm{IV},\!\mathrm{V}$)

Data presented so far demonstrated that formation of HMW-DNA fragments was invariably associated with both caspase-dependent and -independent cell death induced by a variety of insults in NB 2A cells. To further elucidate the role of caspases in the formation of HMW-DNA fragments during apoptosis, we have developed an experimental model in which apoptosis was accompanied by the HMW-DNA cleavage without the formation of oligonucleosomal DNA fragments. We demonstrated that incubation of NB 2A cells with staurosporine in a serum-deficient medium induced rapid cell death accompanied by changes in nuclear morphology typical of apoptosis, activation of a caspase 3-like protease and disintegration of nuclear DNA into the HMW-, but not oligonucleosomal DNA fragments (Fig. 1 A-C, study IV). The same pattern of DNA fragmentation was obtained in a reconstituted cell free apoptotic system. Cytosolic extract prepared from staurosporine-treated cells induced the formation of the HMW-, but not oligonucleosomal DNA fragments in nuclei isolated from normal (non-apoptotic) NB 2A cells (Fig. 1 D, study IV). Disintegration of nuclear DNA preferentially into HMW-DNA fragments both in staurosporinetreated NB 2A cells and in the cell free apoptotic system suggests that the absence of internucleosomal DNA cleavage is an intrinsic feature of staurosporine-induced apoptosis in NB 2A cells.

We further demonstrated that Z-DEVD-fmk, a specific caspase-3 inhibitor, as well as a general caspase inhibitor, Z-VAD-fmk, both effectively prevented activation of caspase 3-like proteases in staurosporine-treated neuroblastoma cells without inhibition of the HMW-DNA fragmentation (Fig. 4 A, study IV). The apoptotic HMW-DNA cleavage induced by staurosporine and serum deprivation was effectively inhibited by suramin (Fig. 4 B, study IV), a drug that prevented neuronal cell death provoked by several cytotoxic insults (Fig. 2, 3, study V). Interestingly, suramin, at low concentration, almost completely inhibited the formation of HMW-DNA fragments without altering the level of endogenous caspase 3-like activity, whereas a high concentration of the drug suppressed both HMW-DNA cleavage and caspase-3 activity in NB 2A cells (Fig. 4 B, study IV).

These results suggest that caspase activation is not essential for HMW-DNA fragmentation in cells induced to undergo apoptosis by staurosporine and serum deprivation.

The discovery of caspase-activated DNase (DFF40/CAD) (Enari et al., 1998; Liu et al., 1997) provided a direct link between caspases and internucleosomal DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. Our results demonstrated that activation of caspase-3 during apoptosis induced by staurosporine in serum deprived NB 2A cells was not associated with the formation of oligonucleosomal DNA fragments. Moreover, the level of both CAD-mRNA and the CAD protein was down-regulated in staurosporine-treated NB 2A cells (Fig. 2, study IV), thus suggesting that DFF40/CAD is not involved in the excision of DNA loop domains during the apoptosis induced by staurosporine in NB 2A cells.

5.5 Suramin rescues the neuronal cells against different types of cell death (III,V)

As mentioned above, treatment of CGCs with L-glutamate induced a cell death which was associated with chromatin condensation, apoptotic-like changes in nuclear morphology and fragmentation of DNA into HMW-DNA fragments. Neither activation of caspase 3-like proteases nor the formation of oligonucleosomal DNA ladder were observed during L-glutamate-induced cell death (Fig. 1 and 2, study III).

HMW-DNA fragmentation in L-glutamate-treated CGCs was effectively inhibited by suramin, whereas the general caspase inhibitor, Z-VAD-fmk, only slightly prevented DNA disintegration. The protective effect of suramin was equally apparent whether added before or after exposure of the cells to L-glutamate. The nuclear morphology of the glutamate treated cells exposed to suramin was indistinguishable from the control (nontreated) CGCs. Cell viability measured by the MTT assay was remarkably increased after suramin treatment (Fig. 2, study V). These results are evidence that suramin has a protective effect in CGCs against the excitotoxicity induced by L-glutamate.

Because the neuroprotective effect of suramin may be due to its ability to antagonise glutamate receptors, we further investigated the effect of suramin on apoptosis induced by staurosporine in NB 2A neuroblastoma cells, which are known to have no glutamate receptors. Staurosporine in standard culture medium induced apoptosis in NB 2A cells that was associated with activation of caspase 3-like proteases and the disintegration of nuclear DNA into HMW- and oligonucleosomal DNA ladder. All these parameters of apoptosis were significantly inhibited by suramin, leading to an increase in cell viability (Fig. 3, study V).

To clarify a possible mechanism whereby suramin could achieve its anti-apoptotic effect, we investigated the influence of suramin on the activity of recombinant caspase-3, the enzyme which is known to be the main executioner of apoptosis (Fig. 4, study V). The results showed that suramin inhibited the activity of recombinant caspase-3 in a concentration-dependent manner in an *in vitro* assay. Thus, the results indicate that suramin exerts its neuroprotective effect on different targets and represents an effective survival agent with multiple mechanisms of action.

6. DISCUSSION

6.1 Apoptosis in neuronal cells induced by different cytotoxic insults: distinct patterns of DNA fragmentation

Internucleosomal DNA fragmentation is one of the typical features of apoptosis in most of the cellular models. An increasing number of evidence indicate, however, that in addition to the internucleosomal DNA ladder, there is another periodicity of DNA fragmentation that yields the set of HMW-DNA fragments. HMW-DNA fragmentation proceeds in many cell types, and in some of them including neuronal ones it can occur without internucleosomal DNA cleavage (Cohen et al., 1992; Oberhammer et al., 1993; Ankarcrona et al., 1995; Saura et al., 1997). Our observations supplement these studies and further demonstrate that apoptosis even within the same cell type can proceed with distinct pattern of DNA fragmentation. We demonstrated that treatment of mouse neuroblastoma NB 2A cells with genotoxic agents etoposide and Ara-C as well as nongenotoxic agents OKA and serum deprivation induced cell death associated with biochemical and morphological changes typical of apoptosis, i.e. activation of caspase-3, cleavage of PARP, DNA disintegration, chromatin condensation and nuclear fragmentation into apoptotic bodies. At the same time, apoptosis induced by genotoxic and nongenotoxic agents was associated with a distinct pattern of DNA fragmentation. While OKA and serum deprivation induced apoptosis was associated both with HMW-DNA fragmentation and internucleosomal DNA cleavage, etoposide and Ara-C initiated apoptosis accompanied only by HMW-DNA fragmentation (I). Both types of apoptosis differing with DNA fragmentation patterns were associated with differential changes in a subset of DNA transcription factors, e.g. AP-I and NF-KB implying that different apoptotic stimuli can induce distinct apoptotic pathways within the same cells.

The absence of the DNA ladder at least in etoposide-treated cells was not dependent on the duration of exposure or the dose of the drug. Exposure of the cells to different concentrations of etoposide or extension of the time of treatment up to three days (when a major loss of cells and DNA occur) resulted in the same pattern of DNA fragmentation without the formation of an oligonucleosomal DNA ladder. Disintegration of DNA during apoptosis induced by etoposide appears earlier and proceeds more rapidly than DNA fragmentation induced by serum deprivation, suggesting that the lack of a ladder is a feature of etoposide-induced apoptosis. This conclusion is further confirmed by the results of our cell-free system experiments. Cell free system assay demonstrated that incubation of normal isolated nuclei with cytosol prepared from serum-deprived cells resulted in the formation of both HMW- and oligonucleosomal DNA fragments. In contrast, etoposide-treated cvtosol induced HMW-, but not internucleosomal DNA fragmentation. To summarise these data we can conclude that even within the same cell line, apoptosis may be either associated with or proceed without the formation of an oligonucleosomal DNA ladder, depending on the type of apoptotic stimuli, and that the HMW-DNA cleavage, in contrast to the internucleosomal DNA fragmentation, is an obligatory event in apoptosis induced by various agents. The formation of HMW-DNA fragments may represent the initial committed step of apoptotic DNA disintegration that is accomplished by internucleosomal DNA ladder. Alternatively, HMW-DNA fragmentation may proceed independently on internucleosomal DNA cleavage and represent separate program of DNA disintegration.

6.2 Internucleosomal- and HMW- DNA cleavage: separate pathways of DNA disintegration

We demonstrated that ATA, suramin and cycloheximide inhibited both HMW-DNA fragmentation and oligonucleosomal DNA ladder during apoptosis induced by serum deprivation, whereas none of these agents were able to suppress HMW-DNA cleavage during etoposide induced apoptosis.

While ATA, suramin and cycloheximide inhibited both HMW- and internucleosomal DNA fragmentation induced by serum deprivation, Zn^{2+} -ions abrogated only the DNA ladder but not HMW-DNA fragmentation in serum deprived cells (**I**, **II**). These results suggest that HMW- and internucleosomal DNA fragmentation can proceed independently from each other in apoptotic cells. This was further confirmed in our *in vitro* experiments, which showed that HMW- and oligonucleosomal DNA fragmentation can be separated from each other in reconstituted cell free apoptotic system. Thus, a brief heating of cytosolic extract prepared from serum-deprived cells had no effect on the oligonucleosomal DNA ladder, but resulted in inhibition of HMW fragmentation in substrate nuclei. At the same time, Zn^{2+} -ions abrogated the appearance of oligonucleosomal, but not HMW-DNA fragments (similarly to the *in vivo* experiments), thus emphasising that different nucleases may be responsible for HMW-DNA fragmentation may proceed independently of the internucleosomal DNA cleavage (**II**).

To summarise these data, we conclude that there are at least two different mechanisms of DNA disintegration during apoptosis. The first mechanism involves the formation of oligonucleosomal DNA ladder, while the second type results in the HMW-DNA cleavage without any internucleosomal DNA fragmentation (Fig. 4). Our cell free system experiments suggest that these mechanisms can act independently from each other. The latter is consistent with recent results demonstrating that separate pathways are responsible for the induction of internucleosomal and HMW-DNA cleavage during apoptosis (Susin et al., 2000).



Fig. 4. Possible mechanism of DNA disintegration during apoptosis

6.3 HMW-DNA cleavage: the role of DFF/CAD

Recently, a heterodimeric DNA fragmentation factor (DFF40/DFF45) has been described responsible for the internucleosomal DNA cleavage in human cells (Liu et al., 1997) and its mouse analogue, caspase-3 activated DNase, CAD, and its inhibitor, ICAD, (Enari et al., 1998). DFF40/CAD cleaves DNA at internucleosomal spaces via an interaction with histone H1 and highmobility group 2 protein (Liu et al., 1999). Both these factors have been shown to be activated by the caspase-3 dependent proteolytic cleavage, providing a direct link between the caspases and the CAD/DFF40-drived internucleosomal DNA fragmentation in apoptotic cells.

As shown in our experiments, apoptosis can proceed either with or without oligonucleosomal DNA ladder. HMW-DNA fragmentation induced by serum deprivation shares many common features with internucleosomal DNA cleavage and exhibits marked differences from HMW-DNA cleavage induced by etoposide. Thus, both HMW- and oligonucleosomal DNA fragmentation in serum deprived cells were effectively inhibited by ATA and cycloheximide in contrast to etoposide induced HMW-DNA fragmentation. These data allow us to propose that similar if not identical mechanisms underlie HMW- and oligonucleosomal DNA fragmentation in serum-deprived cells but quite different mechanisms are responsible for the formation of HMW-DNA fragments in etoposide treated cells.

Recent observations that DFF/CAD is able to induce simultaneously both HMW- and internucleosomal DNA cleavage (Nagata, 2000), and that both activities are absent in Jurkat cell transformants that express a mutant form of mouse ICAD (Sakahira et al., 1999 b) confirms this assumption. At the same time, our data indicate that DFF/CAD is down-regulated during apoptosis, which proceeds without formation of oligonucleosomal DNA fragments (**IV**) suggesting that nuclease activity distinct from DFF/CAD is responsible for HMW-DNA cleavage. Our observation that cycloheximide, a protein synthesis inhibitor, prevents oligonucleosomal DNA cleavage. Our observation that cycloheximide, a protein synthesis inhibitor, prevents oligonucleosomal DNA cleavage during serum deprivation suggests that ladder-forming activity belongs to the inducible component of DNA fragmentation machinery. At the same time cycloheximide had no inhibitory effect on etoposide induced HMW-DNA fragmentation activity supposing that this activity is constitutively present in NB 2A cells. The absence of an oligonucleosomal DNA cleavage in NB 2A cells induced to undergo apoptosis either by staurosporine or by genotoxic agents, etoposide and Ara-C, suggests that in this case apoptosis is associated with activation of a specific nuclease capable of inducing the HMW-DNA cleavage without performing the internucleosomal DNA fragmentation

(IV). Because the formation of HMW-DNA fragments is widely considered as an excision of DNA looped domains, the term " a domain nuclease" has been proposed to distinguish between internucleosomal DNA ladder and excision of DNA looped domains (Earnshaw, 1995). Our and other results suggest that domain nuclease is distinct from CAD (Susin et al., 2000; Robertson et al., 2000), and the recent data imply that it could be topoisomerase IIalpha (Li et al., 1999; Durrieu et al., 2000).

6.4 Internucleosomal- and HMW-DNA cleavage: a differential requirement for caspases

Disintegration of nuclear DNA into oligonucleosomal DNA fragments represents a classical manifestation of apoptosis (Wyllie et al., 1980) and is obligatory associated with the activation of

caspase 3-like proteases (Enari et al., 1998). Here we describe apoptosis, which is associated with caspase-3 activation and HMW-DNA fragmentation without formation of internucleosomal DNA cleavage. Our data demonstrate that HMW-DNA cleavage during apoptosis induced by staurosporine in serum deprived NB 2A cells was insensitive to caspase inhibitors Z-DEVD-fmk and Z-VAD-fmk (IV).

These results are consistent with our recent observation showing that caspase inhibitors completely suppressed the internucleosomal-, but not HMW-DNA cleavage during apoptosis induced by okadaic acid in CGCs (III), thus suggesting that caspases are not essential for the excision of DNA looped domains in apoptotic cells. Moreover, we demonstrated that in CGCs OKA and L-glutamate induce distinct types of cell death, associated either with or without caspase activation, and irrespective of the caspase activation status, both types of cell death were associated with the disintegration of nuclear DNA into similar set of HMW-DNA fragments (III), thus suggesting caspase-independent control of HMW fragmentation. Using cell free system we demonstrated that HMW-DNA cleavage can be induced both in caspase-dependent and -independent manner, thus suggesting the multiple mechanisms of activation of the HMW-DNA cleavage.

The recently described AIF has been shown to induce the disintegration of nuclear DNA into the HMW-DNA fragments in a cell free apoptotic system via caspase-independent mechanism (Lorenzo et al., 1999). It has also been shown, at least in a cell free apoptotic system, that caspase-independent HMW-DNA cleavage and caspase-dependent DFF40/CAD-driven internucleosomal DNA fragmentation represent two parallel pathways of apoptotic DNA disintegration (Daugas et al., 2000).

Our observations further demonstrate that disintegration of nuclear DNA into the HMW-, but not oligonucleosomal DNA fragments, represents a common event in caspase dependent and - independent types of neuronal cell death ($\mathbf{III-V}$) and that the caspases seem to be redundant in the activation of the HMW-DNA cleavage during apoptotic cell death.

6.5 Suramin as a common protective drug against different types of cell death: a possible therapeutic implication

Suramin, a polyanionic compound, which has been used as an antihelminthic for more than 50 years in humans, is currently used in clinical trials as the antineoplastic agent for the treatment of breast and prostate cancer. One of the possible mechanisms of its anticancer activity may be the ability of suramin to inhibit protein kinase C (Funayama et al., 1993) and topoisomerase II (Bojanowski et al., 1992), which are essential in the control of cell growth and proliferation. A second mechanism could be associated with the ability of the drug to induce apoptosis in the tumour cells (Lauricella et al., 1998; Lokshin and Levitt, 1996). Induction of apoptosis has also been proposed as the reason for the cytotoxic effect of suramin in dorsal root ganglion neurons (Gill and Windebank, 1998). There is also some evidence for a protective effect of the drug against apoptosis induced by serum deprivation in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells (Zanghi et al., 2000) or by lowering of the extracellular ATP level in murine thymocytes (Nagy et al., 2000). Suramin also has been shown to be effective in blocking naturally occurring apoptosis in the developing chick neural retina (Yokoyama et al., 1997).

To summarise these data, one can conclude that suramin alone may induce apoptosis; but, on the other hand, the drug is capable of protecting against apoptosis induced by other challenges, as is the case for a number of drugs, including the "classical" apoptosis inhibitor, cycloheximide. The different effect of suramin on cell death is hardly surprising and can be explained by the diverse mechanisms of the drug's action, which target different intracellular compartments (see above).

Our data demonstrate that suramin markedly inhibits apoptosis induced by staurosporine in cultured NB 2A neuroblastoma cells (\mathbf{V}). The ability of suramin to suppress caspase 3-like activity in staurosporine-treated cells, as well as its ability to inhibit directly the activity of recombinant caspase 3, suggest that suramin exerts its antiapoptotic effect at the early stages of apoptotic execution, i.e. at least at the stage of caspase-3 activation. Whether suramin interferes with the executioner caspases, i. e. caspases -3, -6, -7, or blocks the activation of the proximal initiating caspases, i.e. caspases -8, -9 or -10, should be the focus of additional investigation. Here suramin was also shown to effectively protect cerebellar granule cells against excitotoxicity induced by L-glutamate (\mathbf{V}). Glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in our experiments was not associated with caspase activation suggesting that the protective effect of suramin in this situation is not linked to the caspase pathway. The possible explanation of the protective effect of suramin against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity and the grain to antagonise the membrane receptor channels. Nevertheless, suramin rescues the cells against caspase-mediated apoptosis and caspase-independent excitotoxicity and this implies that it possesses multiple ways of protecting against neuronal cell death.

7. CONCLUSIONS

The aim of present study was to investigate the mechanisms of DNA disintegration during neuronal apoptosis and to clarify whether HMW- and internucleosomal DNA cleavages represent separate types of apoptotic DNA disintegration.

The following conclusions can be done:

1. Apoptosis induced in neuronal cells by different apoptotic stimuli is associated with distinct pattern of DNA fragmentation.

2. HMW- and internucleosomal DNA fragmentation represent separate programmes of apoptotic DNA disintegration.

3. Caspase activation is not essential for HMW-DNA cleavage during neuronal apoptosis

4. Suramin rescues neuronal cells against different types of cell death

In conclusion, the present study provides new information about mechanisms of DNA disintegration during neuronal apoptosis and possible application of suramin as neuroprotective drug.

REFERENCES

Alberts B., Bray D., Lewis J., Raff M., Roberts K., Watson J.D. (1989) Molecular Biology of the Cell (2nd edition), Ed. Adams R., Garland Publishing, Inc. New York& London, 1219.

Alnemri E.S., Livingston D.J., Nicholson D.W., Salvesen G., Thornberry N.A., Wong W.W., Yuan J. (1996) Human ICE/CED-3 protease nomenclature. Cell 87, 171.

An B., Dou Q.P. (1996) Cleavage of retinoblastoma protein during apoptosis: an interleukin 1 betaconverting enzyme-like protease as candidate. Cancer Res. 56, 438-442.

Ankarcrona M., Dypbukt J.M., Bonfoco E., Zhivotovsky B., Orrenius S., Lipton S., Nicotera P. (1995) Glutamate-induced neuronal death: a succession of necrosis or apoptosis depending on mitochondrial function. Neuron 15, 961-973.

Antonsson B., Martinou J.-C. (2000) The Bcl-2 protein family. Exp. Cell Res. 256, 50-57.

Ashkenazi A. and Dixit V.M. (1998) Death receptors: Signalling and modulation. Science 281, 1305-1308.

Balcar V.J., Dias L.S., Li Y., Bennett M.R. (1995) Inhibition of [3H]CGP 39653 binding to NMDA receptors by a P2 antagonist, suramin. Neurorep. 7, 69-72.

Barrett A.J. and Kirschke H. (1981) Cathepsin B, cathepsin H, cathepsin L. Meth. Enzym. 80, 535-561.

Barrett A.J., Rawlings N.D., Woessner J.F. Jr. (Eds.) (1998) Hand book of Proteolytic Enzymes, Academic Press, London, 258.

Berg L., McKeel Jr D.W., Miller J.P., Baty J., Morris J.C. (1993) Neuropathological indexes of Alzheimer's disease in demented and nondemented persons aged 80 years and older. Arch. Neurol. 50, 349-358.

Berti P.J., Storer A.C. (1995) Alignment/phylogeny of the papain superfamily of cysteine proteases. J. Mol. Biol. 246, 273-283.

Bever C.T., Garver D.W. (1995) Increased cathepsin B activity in multiple sclerosis brain. J. Neurol. Sci. 131, 71-73.

Bezvenyuk Z., Salminen A., Solovyan V. (2000) Involvement of cathepsin-like proteases in apoptosis in NB 2A neuroblastoma cells. Abstracts of "Neuroscience 2000 Finland" Symposium, March 16-17, Helsinki, Finland.

Bojanowski K., Lelievre S., Markovits J., Couprie J., Jacquemin-Sablon A., Larsen A.K. (1992) Suramin is an inhibitor of DNA topoisomerase II in vitro and in Chinese hamster fibrosarcoma cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 89, 3025-3029.

Boldin M.P., Goncharov T.M., Goltsev Y.V., Wallach D. (1996) Involvement of MACH, a novel MORT1/FADD-interacting protease, in Fas/APO-1- and TNF receptor-induced cell death. Cell 85, 803-815.

Bonfoco E., Krainc D., Ankarcrona M., Nicotera P., Lipton S.A. (1995) Apoptosis and necrosis: two distinct events induced, respectively, by mild and intense insults with N-methyl-D-aspartate or nitric oxide/superoxide in cortical cell cultures. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92, 7162-7166.

Brancolini C., Benedetti M., Schneider C. (1995) Microfilament reorganization during apoptosis: the role of Gas2, a possible substrate for ICE-like proteases. EMBO J. 14, 5179-5190.

Bratton S.B., MacFarlane M., Cain K., Cohen G.M. (2000) Protein complexes activate distinct caspase cascades in death receptor and stress-induced apoptosis. Exp. Cell Res. 256, 27-33.

Brown D.G., Sun X.-M., Cohen G.M. (1993) Dexamethasone-induced apoptosis involves cleavage of DNA to large fragments prior to internucleosomal fragmentation. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 3037-3039.

Brown R.H., Jr. (1997) Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Insights from genetics. Arch. Neurol. 54, 1246-1250.

Casciola-Rosen L.A., Miller D.K., Anhalt G.J., Rosen A. (1994) Specific cleavage of the 70-kDa protein component of the U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein is a characteristic biochemical feature of apoptotic cell death. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 30757-30760.

Casciola-Rosen L.A, Anhalt G.J., Rosen A. (1995) DNA-dependent protein kinase is one of a subset of autoantigens specifically cleaved early during apoptosis. J. Exp. Med. 182, 1625-1634.

Cataldo A.M., Nixon R.A. (1990) Enzymatically active lysosomal proteases are associated with amyloid deposits in Alzheimer brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 87, 3861-3865.

Chandra B.J., Niemer I., Gilbreath J., Kliche K.-O., Andreeff M., Freireich E.J., Keating M., McConkey D.J. (1998) Proteasome inhibitors induce apoptosis in glucocorticoid-resistant chronic lymphocytic leukemic lymphocytes. Blood 92, 4220-4229.

Chapman H.A., Riese R.J., Shi G.-P. (1997) Emerging roles for cysteine proteases in human biology. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 59, 63-88.

Choi D.W. (1995) Calcium: still center-stage in hypoxic-ischemic neuronal death. Trends Neurosci. 18, 58-60.

Chu Z.L., McKinsey T.A., Liu L., Gentry J.J., Malim M.H., Ballard D.W. (1997) Suppression of tumor necrosis factor-induced cell death by inhibitor of apoptosis c-IAP2 is under NF- κ B control. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94, 10057-10062.

Ciechanover A. (1994) The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway. Cell 79, 13-21.

Clem R.J., Fechheimer M., Miller L.K. (1991) Prevention of apoptosis by a baculovirus gene during infection of insect cells. Science 254, 1388-1390.

Cohen G.M., Sun X.M., Snowden R.T., Dinsdale D., Killeter D.N. (1992) Key morphological features of apoptosis may occur in the absence of internucleosomal DNA fragmentation. Biochem. J. 286, 331-334.

Cohen G.M. (1997) Caspases: the executioners of apoptosis . Biochem. J. 326, 1-16.

Croall D.E., DeMartino G.N. (1991) Calcium-activated neutral protease (calpain) system : structure, function, and regulation. Physiol. Rev. 71, 813-847.

Dallaporta B., De Pablo M., Maisse C., Daugas E., Loeffler M., Zamzami N., Kroemer G. (2000) Proteasome activation as a critical event of thymocyte apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 7, 368-373.

Daugas E., Susin S.A., Zamzami N., Ferri K.F., Irinopoulou T., Larochette N., Prevost M.C., Leber B., Andrews D., Penninger J., Kroemer G. (2000) Mitochondrio-nuclear translocation of AIF in apoptosis and necrosis. FASEB J. 14, 729-739.

Debiasi R.L., Squier M.K.T., Pike B., Wynes M., Dermody T.S., Cohen J.J., Tyler K.L. (1999) Reovirus-induced apoptosis is preceded by increased cellular calpain activity and is blocked by calpain inhibitors. J. Virol. 73, 695-701.

Deiss L.P., Galinka H., Berissi H., Cohen O., Kimchi A. (1996) Cathepsin D protease mediates programmed cell death induced by interferon-gamma, Fas/APO-1 and TNF- alpha. EMBO J. 15, 3861-3870.

Delaria K., Fiorentino L., Wallace L., Tamburini P., Brownell E., Muller D. (1994) Inhibition of cathepsin L-like cysteine proteases by cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-2 beta. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 25172-25177.

Delic J., Morange M., Magdelenat H. (1993) Ubiquitin pathway involvement in human lymphocyte gamma-irradiation-induced apoptosis. Mol. Cell Biol. 13, 4875-4883.

Dong Z., Saikumar P., Griess G.A., Weinberg J.M., Venkatachalam M.A. (1998) Intracellular Ca²⁺ thresholds that determine survival or death of energy deprived cells. Am. J. Pathol. 152, 231-240.

Dragunow M., Preston K. (1995) The role of inducible transcription factors in apoptotic nerve cell death. Brain Res. Rev. 21, 1-28.

Duan H., Dixit V.M. (1997) RAIDD is a new "death" adaptor molecule. Nature 385, 86-89.

Dunn W.A. Jr. (1990 a) Studies on the mechanisms of autophagy: Formation of the autophagic vacuole. J. Cell Biol.110, 1923-1933.

Dunn W. A. Jr. (1990 b) Studies on the mechanisms of autophagy: Maturation of the autophagic vacuole. J. Cell Biol. 110, 1935-1945.

Dunn W. A. Jr. (1994) Autophagy and related mechanisms of lysosome-mediated protein degradation. Trends Cell Biol. 4, 139-143.

Durrieu F., Samejima K., Fortune J.M., Kandels-Lewis S., Osheroff N., Earnshaw W.C. (2000) DNA topoisomerase IIalpha interacts with CAD nuclease and is involved in chromatin condensation during apoptotic execution. Curr. Biol. 10, 923-926.

Earnshaw W.C. (1995) Nuclear changes in apoptosis. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 7, 337-343.

Ekinci F.J., Linsley M.D., Shea T.B. (2000) Beta-amyloid-induced calcium influx induces apoptosis in culture by oxidative stress rather than tau phosphorylation. Mol. Brain Res. 76, 389-395.

Ellis H.M. and Horvitz H.R. (1986) Genetic control of programmed cell death in the nematode C. elegans. Cell 44, 817-829.

Ellis R. E., Yuan J., Horvitz H.R. (1991). Mechanisms and functions of cell death. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 7, 663-98.

Emoto Y., Manome Y., Meinhardt G., Kisaki H., Kharbanda S., Robertson M., Ghayur T., Wong W.W., Kamen R., Weichselbaum R. (1995) Proteolytic activation of protein kinase C delta by an ICE-like protease in apoptotic cells. EMBO J. 14, 6148-6156.

Enari M., Hase A., Nagata S. (1995) Apoptosis by a cytosolic extract from Fas-activated cells. EMBO J. 14, 5201-5208.

Enari M., Sakahira H., Yokayama H., Okawa K., Iwamatsu A., Nagata S. (1998) A caspaseactivated DNAse, that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. Nature 391, 43-50.

Filipski J., Leblanc J., Youdale T., Sikorska M., Walker P.R. (1990) Periodicity of DNA folding in higher order chromatin structures. EMBO J. 9, 1319-1327.

Formigli L., Papucci L., Tani A., Schiavone N., Tempestini A., Orlandini G. E., Capaccioli S., Orlandini S. Z. (2000) Aponecrosis: Morphological and biochemical exploration of a syncretic process of cell death sharing apoptosis and necrosis. J. Cell Physiol. 182, 41-49.

Froestl W. (2000) Receptors in neurodegenerative diseases. Pharm. Acta Helv. 74, 247-251.

Funayama Y., Nishio K., Takeda Y., Kubota N., Ohira T., Ohmori T., Ohta S., Ogasawara H., Hasegawa S., Saijo N. (1993) Suramin inhibits the phosphorylation and catalytic activity of DNA topoisomerase II in human lung cancer cells. Anticancer Res. 13, 1981-1988.

Furukawa K.S., Guo Q., Schellenberg G.D., Mattson M.P. (1998) Presenilin-1 mutation alters NGFinduced neurite outgrowth, calcium homeostasis, and transcription factor (AP-1) activation in PC12 cells. J. Neurosci. Res. 52, 618-624.

Gill J.S. and Windebank A.J. (1998) Suramin induced ceramide accumulation leads to apoptotic cell death in dorsal root ganglion neurons. Cell Death Differ. 5, 876-883.

Glockzin S., Von Knethen A., Scheffner M., Brune B. (1999) Activation of the cell death program by nitric oxide involves inhibition of the proteasome. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 19581-19586.

Gorman A.M., Orrenius S., Ceccatelli S. (1998) Apoptosis in neuronal cells: role of caspases. NeuroReport 9, 49-55.

Grassilli E., Benatti F., Dansi P., Giammarioli A.M., Malorni W., Franceschi C., Desiderio M.A. (1998) Inhibition of proteasome function prevents thymocyte apoptosis: involvement of ornithine decarboxylase. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 250, 293-297.

Green D.R., Reed J.C. (1998) Mitochondria and apoptosis. Science 281, 1309-1312.

Gregoli P.A. and Bondurant M.C. (1999) Function of caspases in regulating apoptosis caused by erythropoietin deprivation in erythroid progenitors. J. Cell Physiol. 178, 133-143.

Grimm L.M., Goldberg A.L., Poirier G.G., Schwartz L.M., Osborne B.A. (1996) Proteasomes play an essential role in thymocyte apoptosis. EMBO J. 15, 3835-3844.

Guo Q., Sopher B.L., Furukawa K., Pham D.G., Robinson N., Martin G.M., Mattson M.P. (1997) Alzheimer's presenilin mutation sensitizes neural cells to apoptosis induced by trophic factor withdrawal and amyloid β -peptide: involvement of calcium and oxyradicals. J. Neurosci. 17, 4212-4222.

Haanen C., Vermes I. (1996) Apoptosis: programmed cell death in fetal development. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 64, 129-133.

Halenbeck R., MacDonald H., Roulston A., Chen T.T., Conroy L., Williams L.T. (1998) CPAN, a human nuclease regulated by the caspase-sensitive inhibitor DFF45. Curr. Biol. 8, 537-540.

Halliday G., Robinson S.R., Shepherd C., Kril J. (2000) Alzheimer's disease and inflammation: a review of cellular and therapeutic mechanisms. Clin. Exp. Pharm. Physiol. 27, 1-8.

Hardy J. (1996) New insights into the genetics of Alzheimer's disease. Ann. Med. 28, 255-258.

Hinchliffe J.R. (1981) Cell death in embryogenesis. In: Cell Death in Biology and Pathology (I.D. Bowen and R.A. Lockshin, Eds., Chapman and Hall, London), 35-77.

Hirsch T., Dallaporta B., Zamzami N., Susin S.A., Ravagnan L., Marzo I., Brenner C., Croemer G. (1998) Proteasome activation occurs at an early, premitochondrial step of thymocyte apoptosis. J. Immunol. 161, 35-40.

Hiwasa T. (1996) Induction of apoptosis by a calpain stimulator, ONO-3403. Apoptosis 1, 75-80.

Hoffman K., Bucher P., Tschopp J. (1997) The CARD domain: a new apoptotic signalling motif. Trends Biochem. Sci. 22, 155-156.

Huang H.M., Ou H.C., Hsieh S.J. (2000) Antioxidants prevent amyloid peptide-induced apoptosis and alteration of calcium homeostasis in cultured cortical neurons. Life Sci. 66, 1879-1892.

Hyman B.T. (1998) New neuropathological criteria for Alzheimer disease. Arch. Neurol. 55, 1174-1176.

Isahara K., Ohsawa Y., Kanamori S., Shibata M., Waguri S., Sato N., Gotow T., Watanabe T., Momoi T., Urase K., Kominami E., Uchiyama Y. (1999) Regulation of a novel pathway for cell death by lysosomal aspartic and cysteine proteinases. Neuroscience 91, 233-249.

Ishisaka R., Utsumi T., Kanno T., Arita K., Katunuma N., Akiyama J., Utsumi K. (1999) Participation of a cathepsin L-type protease in the activation of caspase-3. Cell Struct. Funct. 24, 465-470.

Jia L., Dourmashkin R.R., Allen P.D., Gray A.B., Newland A.C., Kelsey S.M. (1997) Inhibition of autophagy abrogates tumour necrosis factor induced apoptosis in human T-lymphoblastic leukaemic cells. Brit. J. Haematol. 98, 673-685.

Kaltschmidt B., Uherek M., Volk B., Baeuerle P.A., Kaltschmidt C. (1997) Transcription factor NF- κ B is activated in primary neurons by amyloid β peptides and in neurons surrounding early plaques from patients with Alzheimer disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94, 2642-2647.

Kasibhatla S., Brunner T., Genestier L., Echeverri F., Mahbouri A., Green D.R. (1998) DNA damaging agents induce expression of Fas ligand and subsequent apoptosis in T lymphocytes via the activation of NF-kappa B and AP-1. Mol. Cell 1, 543-551.

King R.W., Deshaies R.J., Peters J.M., Kirschner M.W. (1996) How proteolysis drives the cell cycle. Science 274, 1652-1659.

Kitagawa H., Tani E., Ikemoto H., Ozaki I., Nakano A., Omura S. (1999) Proteasome inhibitors induce mitochondria-independent apoptosis in human glioma cells. FEBS Lett. 443, 181-186.

Korhonen P., Huotari V., Soininen H., Salminen A. (1997) Glutamate-induced changes in the DNAbinding complexes of transcription factor YY1 in cultured hippocampal and cerebellar granule cells. Mol. Brain Res. 52, 330-333.

Lagarkova M.A., Iarovaia O.V., Razin S.V. (1995) Large-scale fragmentation of mammalian DNA in the course of apoptosis proceeds via excision of chromosomal DNA loops and their oligomers. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20239-20241.

Lauricella M., Giuliano M., Emanuele S., Vento R., Tesoriere G. (1998) Apoptotic effects of different drugs on cultured retinoblastoma Y79 cells. Tumour Biol. 19, 356-363.

Lauritzen I., De Weille J. R., Lazdunski M. (1997) The potassium channel opener (-)-cromakalim prevents glutamate-induced cell death in hippocampal neurons. J. Neurochem. 69, 1570-1579.

Lazebnik Y.A., Kaufmann S.H., Desnoyers S., Poirier G.G., Earnshaw W.C. (1994) Cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by a proteinase with properties like ICE. Nature 371, 346-347.

Lazebnik Y.A., Takahashi A., Moir R.D., Goldman R.D., Poirier G.G., Kaufmann S.H., Earnshaw W.C. (1995) Studies of the lamin proteinase reveal multiple parallel biochemical pathways during apoptotic execution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 92, 9042-9046.

Lemaire C., Andreau K., Souvannavong V., Adam A. (1998) Inhibition of caspase activity induces a switch from apoptosis to necrosis. FEBS Letters 425, 266-270.

Lemasters J.J., Nieminen A.-L., Qian T., Trost L.C., Elmore S.P., Nishimura Y., Crowe R.A., Cascio W.E., Bradham C.A., Brenner D.A., Herman B. (1998) The mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death: A common mechanism in necrosis, apoptosis and autophagy. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 1366, 177-196.

Levine A. (1997) p53, The cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell 88, 323-331.

Li J., Xu M., Zhou H., Ma J. (1997) Alzheimer presenilins in the nuclear membrane, interphase kinetochores, and centrosomes suggest a role in chromosome segregation. Cell 90, 917-927.

Li M., Ona V.O., Guegan C., Chen M., Jackson-Lewis V., Andrews L.J., Olszewski A.J., Stieg P.E., Lee J.P., Przedborski S., Friedlander R.M. (2000) Functional role of caspase-1 and caspase-3 in an ALS transgenic mouse model. Science 288, 335-339.

Li T.-K., Chen A.Y., Yu C., Mao Y., Wang H., Liu L.F. (1999) Activation of topoisomerase IImediated excision of chromosomal DNA loops during oxidative stress. Genes Dev. 13, 1553-1560. Litwack G., Lavin M., Watters D. (1996) Heteronuclear ribonucleoproteins C1 and C2, components of the spliceosome, are specific targets of interleukin 1beta-converting enzyme-like proteases in apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 29335-29341.

Liu L.F. (1989) DNA topoisomerase poisons as antitumor drugs. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 58, 351-375.

Liu X., Zou H., Slaughter C., Wang X. (1997) DFF, a heterodimeric protein, that functions downstream of caspase-3 to trigger DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. Cell 89, 175-184.

Liu X., Li P., Widlak P., Zou H., Luo X., Garrard W.T., Wang X. (1998) The 40-kDa subunit of DNA fragmentation factor induces DNA fragmentation and chromatin condensation during apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 8461-8466.

Liu X., Zou H., Widlak P., Garrard W., Wang X. (1999) Activation of the apoptotic endonuclease DFF 40 (caspase-activated DNase or nuclease). Oligomerization and direct interaction with histone H1. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 13836-13840.

Lokshin A. and Levitt M.L. (1996) Effect of suramin on squamous differentiation and apoptosis in three human non-small-cell lung cancer cell lines. J. Cell Biochem. Suppl. 24, 186-197.

Lorenzo H. K., Susin S.A., Penninger J., Kroemer G. (1999) Apoptosis inducing factor (AIF): a phylogenetically old, caspase-independent effector of cell death. Cell Death Differ. 6, 516-524.

Marin N., Romero B., Bosch-Morell F., Llansola M., Felipo V., Roma J., Romero F.G. (2000) beta-Amyloid-induced activation of caspase-3 in primary cultures of rat neurons. Mech. Ageing. Dev. 119, 63-67.

Martin S.J., O'Brien G.A., Nishioka W.K., McGahon A.J., Mahboubi A., Saido T.C., Green D.R. (1995) Proteolysis of fodrin (non-erythroid spectrin) during apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 6425-6428.

Mashima T., Naito M., Fujita N., Noguchi K., Tsuruo T. (1995) Identification of actin as a substrate of ICE and an ICE-like protease and involvement of an ICE-like protease but not ICE in VP-16-induced U937 apoptosis. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 217, 1185-1192.

Mattson M.P., Guo Q. (1997) Cell and molecular neurobiology of presenilins: a role for the endoplasmic reticulum in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 50, 505-513.

Mattson M.P., Guo Q., Furukawa K., Pedersen W. A. (1998) Presenilins, the endoplasmic reticulum, and neuronal apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 70, 1-14.

McCarthy N.J., Whyte M.K., Gilbert C.S., Evan G.I. (1997) Inhibition of Ced-3/ICE-related proteases does not prevent cell death induced by oncogenes, DNA damage, or the Bcl-2 homologue Bak. J. Cell Biol. 136, 215-227.

McGinnis K.M., Whitton M.M., Gnegy M.E., Wang K.K.W. (1998) Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV is cleaved by caspase-3 and calpain in SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells undergoing apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 19993-20000.

McGinnis K.M., Gnegy M.E., Park Y.H., Mukerjee N., Wang K.K.W. (1999) Procaspase-3 and poly(ADP)ribose polymerase (PARP) are calpain substrates. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 263, 94-99.

Mcllroy D., Sakahira H., Talanian R.V., Nagata S. (1999) Involvement of caspase3-activated DNase in internucleosomal DNA cleavage induced by diverse apoptotic stimuli. Oncogene 18, 4401-4408.

Medema J.P., Scaffidi C., Kischkel F.C., Shevchenko A., Mann M., Krammer P.H., Peter M.E. (1997) FLICE is activated by association with the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). EMBO J. 16, 2794-2804.

Mort J.S., Recklies A.D., Poole A.R. (1984) Extracellular presence of the lysosomal proteinase cathepsin B in rheumatoid synovium and its activity at neutral pH. Arth. Rheum. 27, 509-515.

Mukae N., Enari M., Sakahira H., Fukuda Y., Inazawa J., Toh H., Nagata S. (1998). Molecular cloning and characterization of human caspase-activated DNase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 9123-9128.

Nagata S. (2000) Apoptotic DNA fragmentation. Exp. Cell Res. 256, 12-18.

Nagy P.V., Feher T., Morga S., Matko J. (2000) Apoptosis of murine thymocytes induced by extracellular ATP is dose- and cytosolic pH-dependent. Immunol. Lett. 72, 23-30.

Nath R., Raser K.J., Stafford D., Hajimohammadreza I., Posner A., Allen H., Talanian R.V., Yuen P., Gilbertsen R.B., Wang K.K. (1996) Non-erythroid alpha-spectrin breakdown by calpain and interleukin 1 beta-converting-enzyme-like protease(s) in apoptotic cells: contributory roles of both protease families in neuronal apoptosis. Biochem J. 319, 683-90.

Nicholson D.W., Ali A., Thornberry N.A. (1995) Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. Nature 376, 37-43.

Nicholson D. W. and Thornberry N.A. (1997) Caspases: killer proteases. Trends Biochem. Sci. 22, 299-306.

Nicotera P. (2000) Caspase requirement for neuronal apoptosis and neurodegeneration. IUBMB Life 49, 421-425.

Nishimura Y., Kawabata T., Kato K. (1988) Identification of latent procathepsins B and L in microsomal lumen: characterization of enzymatic activation and proteolytic processing in vitro. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 261, 64-71.

Oberhammer F., Wilson J.W., Dive C., Morris I.D., Hickman J.A., Wakeling A.E., Walker P.R., Sikorska M. (1993) Apoptotic death in epithelial cells: Cleavage of DNA to 300 and/or 50 kb fragments prior to or in the absence of internucleosomal fragmentation. EMBO J. 12, 3679-3684.

Ollinger K. (2000) Inhibition of cathepsin D prevents free-radical-induced apoptosis in rat cardiomyocytes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 373, 346-351.

Oppenheim R. W. (1991) Cell death during development of the nervous system. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 453-501.

Palombella V.J., Rando O.J., Goldberg A.L., Maniatis T. (1994) The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway is required for processing the NF-kappa B1 precursor protein and the activation of NF-kappa B. Cell 78, 773-785.

Pandey S., Walker P.R., Sikorska M. (1994) Separate pools of endonuclease activity are responsible for internucleosomal and high molecular mass DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. Biochem. Cell Biol. 72, 625-629.

Pandey S., Walker P.R., Sikorska M. (1997) Identification of a novel 97 kDa endonuclease capable of internucleosomal DNA cleavage. Biochemistry 36, 711-720.

Patel T., Gores G. J. and Kauffman S. H. (1996) The role of proteases during apoptosis. FASEB J. 10, 587-597.

Pennacchio L.A., Bouley D.M., Higgins K.M., Scott M.P., Noebels J.L., Myers R.M. (1998) Progressive ataxia, myoclonic epilepsy and cerebellar apoptosis in cystatin B-deficient mice. Nat. Genet. 20, 251-258.

Peskind E., Poorkaj P., Schellenberg G., Tanzi R., Wasco W., Lannfelt L., Pettmann B. and Henderson C.E. (1998) Neuronal cell death. Neuron 20, 633-647.

Pham C.T., Ley T.Y. (1999) Dipeptidyl peptidase I is required for the processing and activation of granzymes A and B in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 96, 8627-8632.

Polymeropoulus M.H., Lavedan C., Leroy E., Ide S.E., Dehejia A., Dutra A., Pike B., Root H., Rubenstein J., Boyer R. (1997) Mutation in the α -synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. Science 276, 2045-2047.

Pörn-Ares M.I., Samali A., Orrenius S. (1998) Cleavage of the calpain inhibitor, calpastatin, during apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 5, 1028-1033.

Qin Z.H., Wang Y.M., Nakai M., Chase T.N. (1998) Nuclear factor-kappa B contributes to excitotoxin-induced apoptosis in rat striatum. Mol. Pharmacol. 53, 33-42.

Ray C.A., Black R. A., Kronheim S.R., Greenstreet T.A., Sleath P.R., Salvesen G.S., Pickup D.J. (1992) Viral inhibition of inflammation: cowpox virus encodes an inhibitor of the interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. Cell 69, 597-604.

Ray S.K., Matzelle D.C., Wilford G.G., Hogan E.L., Banik N.L. (2000) E-64-d prevents both calpain upregulation and apoptosis in the lesion and penumbra following spinal cord injury in rats. Brain Res. 867, 80-89.

Rivett A.J. (1993) Proteasomes: multicatalytic proteinase complexes. Biochem J. 291, 1-10.

Robertson J.D., Orrenius S., Zhivotovsky B. (2000) Nuclear events in apoptosis. J. Struc. Biol. 129, 346-358.

Rock K.L., Gramm C., Rothstein L., Clark K., Stein R., Dick L., Hwang D., Goldberg A.L. (1994). Inhibitors of the proteasome block the degradation of most cell proteins and the generation of peptides presented on MHC class I molecules. Cell 78, 761-771.

Roy N., Mahadevan M.S., McLean M., Shutler G., Yaraghi Z., Farahani R., Baird S., Besner-Johnston A., Lefebvre C.K., Kang X. (1995) The gene for neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein is partially deleted in individuals with spinal muscular atrophy. Cell 80, 167-178.

Sadoul R., Fernandez P.A., Quiquerez A.L., Martinou I., Maki M., Schroter M., Becherer J.D., Irmler M., Tschopp J., Martinou J.C. (1996) Involvement of the proteasome in the programmed cell death of NGF-deprived sympathetic neurons. EMBO J. 15, 3845-3852.

Saito K., Elce J.S., Hamos J.E., Nixon R.A. (1993) Wide spread activation of calcium-activated neutral proteinase (calpain) in the brain in Alzheimer disease: a potential molecular basis for neuronal degeneration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 2628-2632.

Sakahira H., Enari M., Nagata S. (1998) Cleavage of CAD inhibitor in CAD activation and DNA degradation during apoptosis. Nature 391, 96-99.

Sakahira H., Enari M., Nagata S. (1999 a) Functional differences of two forms of the inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase, ICAD-L and ICAD-S. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 15740-15744.

Sakahira H., Enari M., Ohsawa Y., Uchiyama Y., Nagata S. (1999 b) Apoptotic nuclear morphological change without DNA fragmentation. Curr. Biol. 9, 543-546.

Sanchez I., Xu C.-J., Juo P., Kakizaka A., Blenis J., Yuan J. (1999) Caspase-8 is required for cell death induced by expanded polyglutamine repeats. Neuron 22, 623-633.

Saura J., MacGibbon G., Dragunow M. (1997) Etoposide-induced PC12 cell death: apoptotic morphology without oligonucleosomal DNA fragmentation or dependency upon de novo protein synthesis. Mol. Brain Res. 48, 382-388.

Scheuner D., Eckman C., Jensen M., Song X., Citron M., Suzuki N., Bird T.D., Hardy J., Hutton M., Kukull W., Larson E., Levy-Lahad E., Viitanen M., Selkoe D., Younkin S. (1996) Secreted amyloid beta-protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature Med. 2, 864-870.

Seshagiri S., Miller L.K. (1997) Caenorhabditis elegans CED-4 stimulates CED-3 processing and CED-3-induced apoptosis. Curr. Biol. 7, 455-460.

Shuja S., Sheahan K., Murnane M.J. (1991) Cysteine endopeptidase activity levels in normal human tissues, colorectal adenomas and carcinomas. Int. J. Cancer 49, 341-346.

Slater A.F., Kimland M., Jiang S.A., Orrenius S. (1995) Constitutive nuclear NF kappa B/rel DNAbinding activity of rat thymocytes is increased by stimuli that promote apoptosis, but not inhibited by pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate. Biochem. J. 312, 833-838.

Slee E.A., Harte M.T., Kluck R.M., Wolf B.B., Casiano C.A., Newmeyer D.D., Wang H.G., Reed J.C., Nicholson D.W., Alnemri E.S., Green D.R., Martin S.J. (1999) Ordering the cytochrome cinitiated caspase cascade: Hierarchical activation of caspases-2, -3, -6, -7, -8, and 10 in a caspase-9dependent manner. J. Cell Biol. 144, 281-292.

Solovian V.T., Kunakh V.A. (1991) Fractionation of eukaryotic DNA in a pulsating electrical field. I. Detection and properties of discrete DNA fragments. Mol. Biol. (Russia) 25, 1071-1079.

Solovyan V., Salminen A. (1999) A rapid and efficient method for preparation of genomic DNA suitable for analysis of both high and low molecular weight DNA fragmentation during neuronal apoptosis. Brain Res. Protoc. 4, 335-340.

Song Z., McCall K., Steller H. (1997) DCP-1, a Drosophila cell death protease essential for development. Science 275, 536-540.

Sorimachi H., Saido T.C., Suzuki K. (1994) New era of calpain research: discovery of tissue-specific calpains. FEBS Lett. 343, 1-5.

Squier M.K.T. and Cohen J.J. (1997) Calpain, an upstream regulator of thymocyte apoptosis. J. Immunol. 158, 3690-3697.

Squier M.K.T., Sehnert A.J., Sellins K.S., Malkinson A.M., Takano E., Cohen J.J. (1999) Calpain and calpastatin regulate neutrophil apoptosis. J. Cell. Physiol. 178, 311-319.

Srinivasula S.M., Ahmad M., Fernandes-Alnemri T., Litwack G., Alnemri E.S. (1996) Molecular ordering of the Fas-apoptotic pathway: the Fas/APO-1 protease Mch5 is a CrmA-inhibitable protease that activates multiple Ced-3/ICE-like cysteine proteases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.USA 93, 14486-14491.

Stefanelli C., Bonavita F., Stanic I., Pignatti C., Farruggia G., Masotti L., Guarnieri C., Caldarera C.M. (1998) Inhibition of etoposide-induced apoptosis with peptide aldehyde inhibitors of proteasome. Biochem. J. 332, 661-665.

Stennicke H.R., Salvesen G.S. (1998) Properties of the caspases. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1387, 17-31.

Stroh C., Schulze-Osthoff K. (1998) Death by a thousand cuts: An ever-increasing list of caspase substrates. Cell Death Differ. 5, 997-1000.

Su J.H., Nichol K.E., Sitch T., Sheu P., Chubb C., Miller B.L., Tomaselli K.J., Kim R.C., Cotman C.W. (2000) DNA damage and activated caspase-3 expression in neurons and astrocytes: evidence for apoptosis in frontotemporal dementia. Exp. Neurol. 163, 9-19.

Suminami Y., Kishi F., Sekiguchi K., Kato H. (1991) Squamous cell carcinoma antigen is a new member of the serine protease inhibitors. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 181, 51-58.

Sun X.M., MacFarlane M., Zhuang J., Wolf B.B., Green D.R., Cohen G.M. (1999) Distinct caspase cascades are initiated in receptor mediated and chemical-induced apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 5053-5060.

Susin S.A., Lorenzo H.K., Zamzami N., Marzo I., Snow B.E., Brothers G.M., Mangion J., Jacotot E., Costantini P., Loeffler M., Larochette N., Goodlett D.R., Aebersold R., Siderovski D.P., Penninger J.M., Kroemer G. (1999) Molecular characterization of mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF). Nature 397, 441-446.

Susin S.A., Daugas E., Ravagnan L., Samejima K., Zamzami N., Loeffler M., Costantini P., Ferri K.F., Irinopoulou T., Prevost M.-C., Brothers G., Mak T.W., Penninger J., Earnshaw W.C., Kroemer G. (2000) Two Distinct Pathways Leading to Nuclear Apoptosis. J. Exp. Med. 192, 571-580.

Takahashi A. and Earnshaw W. C. (1996) ICE-related proteases in apoptosis. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 6, 50-55.

Thornberry N.A., Bull H.G., Calaycay J.R., Chapman K.T., Howard A.D., Kostura M.J., Miller D.K., Molineaux S.M., Weidner J.R., Aunins J. (1992) A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1 beta processing in monocytes. Nature 356, 768-774.

Traub P., Scherbarth A., Willingale-Theune J., Paulin-Levasseur M., Shoeman R. (1988) Differential sensitivity of vimentin and nuclear lamins from Ehrlich ascites tumor cells toward Ca2+ -activated neutral thiol proteinase. Eur. J. Cell Biol. 46, 478-490.

Trumpt, B.F., Goldblatt P.J., Stowell R.E. (1965) Studies of necrosis in vitro of mouse hepatic parenchymal cells. Ultrastructural alterations in endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, plasma membrane and lipid droplets. Lab. Invest. 14, 2000-2028.

Tschopp J., Irmler M., Thome M. (1998) Inhibition of Fas death signals by FLIPs. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 10, 552-558.

Turk B., Dolenc I., Lenarcic B., Krizaj I., Turk V., Bieth J.G., Björk I. (1999) Acidic pH as a physiological regulator of human cathepsin L activity. Eur. J. Biochem. 259, 926-932.

Turk B., Turk D., Turk V. (2000) Lysosomal cysteine proteases: more than scavengers. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1477, 98-111.

Van Criekinge W., Beyaert R., Van de Craen M., Vandenabeele P., Schotte P., De Valck D., Fiers W. (1996) Functional characterization of the prodomain of interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 27245-27248.

Vancompernolle K., Van Herreweghe F., Pynaert G., Van de Craen M., De Vos K., Totty N., Sterling A., Fiers W., Vandenabeele P., Grooten J. (1997) Atractyloside-induced release of cathepsin B, a protease with caspase-processing activity. FEBS Lett. 438, 150-158.

Vaux D.L., Cory S., Adams J.M. (1988) Bcl-2 gene promotes haemopoietic cell survival and cooperates with c-myc to immortalize pre-B cells. Nature 335, 440-442.

Vercammen D., Brouckaert G., Denecker G., Van de Craen M., Declercq W., Fiers W., Vandenabeele P. (1998) Dual signaling of the Fas receptor: Initiation of both apoptotic and necrotic cell death pathways. J. Exp. Med. 188, 919-930.

Villa P.G., Henzel W. J., Sensenbrenner M., Henderson C.E., Pettmann B. (1998) Calpain inhibitors, but not caspase inhibitors, prevent actin proteolysis and DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. J. Cell Sci. 111, 713-722.

Voelkel-Johnson C., Thorne T.E., Laster S.M. (1996) Susceptibility to TNF in the presence of inhibitors of transcription or translation is dependent on the activity of cytosolic phospholipase A2 in human melanoma tumor cells. J. Immunol. 156, 201-207.

Walker P.R., Weaver V.M., Lach B., LeBlanc J., Sikorska M. (1994) Endonuclease activities associated with high molecular weight and internucleosomal DNA fragmentation in apoptosis. Exp. Cell Res. 213, 100-106.

Walker P.R., Pandey S., Sikorska M. (1995) Degradation of chromatin in apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 2, 97-104.

Waterhouse N., Kumar S., Song Q., Strike P., Sparrow L., Dreyfuss G, Alnemri E.S., Litwack G., Lavin M., Watters D. (1996) Heteronuclear ribonucleoproteins C1 and C2, components of the spliceosome, are specific targets of interleukin 1 beta-converting enzyme-like proteases in apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 29335-29341.

Waterhouse N.J., Finucane D.M., Green D.R., Elce J.S., Kumar S., Alnemri E.S., Litwack G., Khanna K., Lavin M.F., Watters D.J. (1998) Calpain activation is upstream of caspases in radiation-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 5, 1051-1061.

Waxman L., Krebs E.G. (1978) Identification of two protease inhibitors from bovine cardiac muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 253, 5888-5891.

Wellington C.L., Hayden M.R. (2000) Caspases and neurodegeneration: on the cutting edge of new therapeutic approaches. Clin. Genet. 57, 1-10.

White E. (1996) Life, death and pursuit of apoptosis. Gen. Develop. 10, 1-15.

Wiessner C., Sauer D., Alaimo D., Allegrini P.R. (2000) Protective effect of a caspase inhibitor in models for cerebral ischemia in vitro and in vivo. Cell Mol. Biol. (Noisy-le-grand), 46, 53-62.

Wolf B.B., Goldstein J.C., Stennicke H.R., Beere H., Amarante-Mendes G.P., Salvesen G.S., Green D.R. (1999 a) Calpain functions in a caspase-independent manner to promote apoptosis-like events during platelet activation. Blood 94, 1683-1692.

Wolf B.B., Schuler M., Echeverri F., Green D.R. (1999 b) Caspase-3 is the primary activator of apoptotic DNA fragmentation via DNA fragmentation factor-45/inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase inactivation. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 30651-30656.

Wood D.E., Newcomb E.W. (1999) Caspase-dependent activation of calpain during drug-induced apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 8309-8315.

Wyllie A. H. (1995) The genetic regulation of apoptosis. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 5, 97-104.

Wyllie A.H., Kerr J.F.R., Currie A.R. (1980) Cell death: The significance of apoptosis. Int. Rev. Cytol. 68, 251-306.

Xue L., Fletcher G. C., Tolkovsky A.M. (1999) Autophagy is activated by apoptotic signalling in sympathetic neurons: an alternative mechanism of death execution. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 14, 180-198.

Yang X., Stennicke H.R., Wang B., Green D.R., Janicke R.U., Srinivasan A., Seth P., Salvesen G.S., Froelich C.J. (1998) Granzyme B mimics apical caspases. Description of a unified pathway for transactivation of executioner caspase-3 and -7. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 34278-34283.

Yokoyama Y., Ozawa S., Seyama Y., Namiki H., Hayashi, Y., Kaji K., Shirama K., Shioda M., Kano K. (1997) Enhancement of apoptosis in developing chick neural retina cells by basic fibroblast growth factor. J. Neurochem. 68, 2212-2215.

Yuan J., Shaham S., Ellis H.M., Horvitz H.R. (1993) The C. elegans cell death gene ced-3 encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme. Cell 75, 641-652.

Zakeri Z., Bursch W., Tenniswood M. and Lockshin R. A. (1995) Cell death: programmed apoptosis, necrosis, or other? Cell Death Differ. 2, 87-96.

Zamzami N., Kroemer G. (1999) Condensed matter in cell death. Nature 401, 127-128.

Zanghi J.A., Renner W.A., Bailey J.E., Fussenegger M. (2000) The growth factor inhibitor suramin reduces apoptosis and cell aggregation in protein-free CHO cell batch cultures. Biotechnol. Prog. 16, 319-325.

Zhang J., Liu X., Scherer D.C., van Kaer L., Wang X., Xu M. (1998) Resistance to DNA fragmentation and chromatin condensation in mice lacking the DNA fragmentation factor 45. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 12480-12485.

Zhou Q. and Salvesen G.S. (1997) Activation of pro-caspase-7 by serine proteases includes a non-canonical specificity. Biochem. J. 324, 361-364.

Zou H., Henzel W.J., Liu X., Lutschg A., Wang X. (1997) Apaf-1, a human protein homologous to C. elegans CED-4, participates in cytochrom c-dependent activation of caspase-3. Cell 90, 405-413.